Dissertationes Forestales 269

Renewing the sawmill industry: studies on innovation, customer value and digitalization

Marika Makkonen

Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in auditorium PIII, Porthania (Yliopistonkatu 3, Helsinki), on 8th of February 2019 at 12.00 noon.

Title of dissertation: Renewing the sawmill industry: studies on innovation, customer value and digitalization

Author: Marika Makkonen

Dissertationes Forestales 269

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.269 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Lauri Valsta Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Thesis Advisor: Adjunct Professor Marja Toivonen Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Elina Jaakkola Department of Marketing and International Business, University of Turku

Professor Anders Roos Department of Forest Products, Swedish University of Agricultural Science

Opponent: Professor Katja Lähtinen University of Vaasa, Vaasa, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-628-1 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-629-8 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Makkonen, M.** (2019). Renewing the sawmill industry: studies on innovation, customer value and digitalization. Dissertationes Forestales 269. 65 p. https://doi.org/ 10.14214/df. 269

ABSTRACT

The sawmill industry's current business strategies are based on traditional, productionoriented business logic. However, the ruling sources of competitiveness (lower prices and higher production volumes) are no longer sufficient to maintain the industry's profitability. A shift from manufacturing to service economy includes vast potential to improve customer value and, hence, business performance. The service view suggests that instead of being created by production, customer value derives from processes in which the provider supports the customer's value creation. This view positions the customer at the core of the business and challenges prevailing business approaches within traditional industries.

The goal of this thesis is to explore the sawmill industry's business transformation toward customer orientation and service-based business. As firms do not operate in isolation from their surrounding business environment, the entire wood products industry is considered. Service logic was used as the research frame to accentuate the value-based business approach. The novelty of this thesis is applying customer orientation to improve the forest industry's innovation and competitiveness. Digitalization is a core of innovation and offers potential to take customer orientation to a new level. Therefore, two closely connected concepts with customer orientation, innovation and digitalization, were also studied. Both interviews and case studies were used, comprising a total of 36 semi-structured interviews.

This thesis suggests that by positioning customers at the core of the business and by applying service-based business practices, the sawmill industry is in better position to achieve long-term competitiveness. This idea, however, necessitates significant strategic changes, questioning existing practices and principles of the entire wood products industry. The first step in the change toward a customer-oriented business (i.e., service-based business) is to gain more understanding of customer orientation and embrace this approach as an organization-wide attitude, not only within the sawmill industry, but throughout wood value chains.

Keywords: Business transformation, customer value creation, service logic, competitive advantage, digitalization, wood products industry

"The difficulty lies not so much in developing new ideas as in escaping from old ones" John Maynard Keynes

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

At the beginning of my doctoral thesis, I thought about this moment many times. Several years of work is behind me and I only have one last thing to write: the acknowledgements section. Finally, I know how it feels accomplishing a long-time goal. I am filled with joy, relief and great gratitude.

The world around us is intriguing, full of opportunities in every aspect, and my curiosity and a need to understand its diversity led to this dissertation. At the core of the topic is knowledge and relationship value. Without cross-border business collaboration, the knowledge-base of firms is narrower. Without knowledge, it is harder to improve an offering and innovate. Both are the aspects that will increase in importance in the future, particularly because fast developing technology creates better ways to deliver value to customers. I chose to examine the value creation within the wood products industry, as I have worked almost all my professional career within the forest industry and the wood products industry provided an interesting starting point for exploring a business transformation from manufacturing to service-based business. Since many businesses seem to struggle with similar issues regardless of the industry, I look forward to applying this knowledge to my current work in the financial sector.

My work has required high motivation, persistence and a little luck. One of the most substantial occurrences during my journey was meeting my thesis adviser, Professor Marja Toivonen, whose expertise, patience and good humor have helped me to cope throughout the process. I want to express my deepest gratitude for your ample and valuable guidance, commitment and friendship. I would also like to express my sincere thanks to the thesis supervisor Professor Lauri Valsta, who helped me in many ways during the stages of my professional career: starting from base studies, entering into working life and most recently providing valuable support and advice with this thesis.

I want to thank my article co-authors, Henna Sundqvist-Andberg, Anna Aminoff and Katri Valkokari, from VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland. I learned a lot during our instructive discussions, and I am grateful for all the help I received from you during the process. I have encountered numerous other parties and individuals that have made it possible to accomplish this work. Particularly, my warmest thanks to all the people at the firms that participated in our research. I am deeply grateful to VTT for enabling this process and providing support during my stay. I also thank the Finnish Society of Forest Science for the financial support for my work.

I would like to express my gratitude to the pre-examiners, Professor Elina Jaakkola and Professor Anders Roos, for valuable comments on my thesis. I also wish to thank sincerely Professor Katja Lähtinen for agreeing to serve as my opponent.

Finally, I would like to express my thanks to my dearest ones. Antti, you have always believed in me, and I'm not sure if I would have chosen this path without you. Thank you for your love. My parents, Irene and Raimo, your love and support have carried me through the hardest times. Mum, I'm grateful for those numerous days that you took care of Emil so that I could write the thesis. Annika, you are the best sister and friend I could ever hope for. I hope that I can offer similar love and support to you every day.

I dedicate this work to our son Emil, who has opened a completely new, fascinating world to explore from now on. Your smile always lets my worries disappear. Thank you for showing me the most important things in life.

Marika Makkonen Espoo, January 2019

LIST OF THE ORIGINAL ARTICLES

80.

This thesis consists of the following three articles, referred to by their Roman numerals, and the summary. Articles I, II and III are reprinted with permission from the publishers.

 I Makkonen, M., Aminoff, A., Valkokari, K. (2017) Stimulating supplier innovation in a complex and regulated business environment – a dyadic case study. International Journal of Innovation Management 22(3), 1850027. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919618500275
 II Makkonen M, Sundqvist-Andberg H. (2017). Customer value creation in B2B relationships: Sawn timber value chain perspective. Journal of Forest Economics 29: 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2017.08.007
 III Makkonen, M. (2018) Stakeholder perspectives on the business potential of digitalization in the wood products industry. BioProducts Business 3(6): 63-

DIVISION OF LABOUR IN CO-AUTHORED ARTICLES

	Ι	II	III		
Conception & design	AA, MM, KV	MM, HSA	MM		
Planning & implementation	AA, MM, KV	MM, HSA	MM		
Data collection	MM, AA	MM, HSA	MM, HSA		
Analysis & interpretation	MM, AA, KV	MM, HSA	MM		
Writing the article	MM, AA, KV	MM, HSA	MM		
Overall responsibility	MM	MM	MM		

MM = Marika Makkonen, HSA = Henna Sundqvist-Andberg, AA = Anna Aminoff, KV = Katri Valkokari

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
AKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
LIST OF THE ORIGINAL ARTICLES	6
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
1. INTRODUCTION	9
1.1. Transforming business strategies in the wood products industry	9
1.2. The purpose of this thesis	11
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	13
2.1. Evolution of business strategies in the forest industry	13
2.2. Theories on the competitive advantage of a firm	15
2.3. Views on customer orientation	18
2.4. Approaches to value creation	19
2.5. Service-based business logic	20
2.6. Opening the process of innovation	22
2.7. Leveraging digitalization to enhance customer orientation and innovation	on24
3. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	26
3.1. Study framework	26
3.2. Qualitative case study as the method in this thesis	
3.3. Data collection	29
3.4. Case selection and data collection in the case study	29
3.5. Sampling and data collection in the interview studies	
3.6. Data analysis	
4. SUMMARIES OF THE RESULTS	35
4.1. Article I: Stimulating supplier innovation in a complex and regulated	1 business
environment – a dyadic case study	35
4.2. Article II: Customer value creation in B2B relationships: Sawn timber va	alue chain
perspective	
4.3. Article III: Stakeholder perspectives on the business potential of digital	lization in
the sawn timber value chain	
5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
5.1. Theoretical implications	40
5.2. Managerial implications	
5.3. Reliability and validity of results	45
5.4. Suggestions for further research	46
REFERENCES	48

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Transforming business strategies in the wood products industry

The focus of this thesis is on the sawmill industry's business strategies and long-term competitiveness. However, as "*no business is an island*" (Håkansson & Snehota, 1989, p. 189), the sawmill industry's competitiveness cannot be analyzed in isolation from its surrounding environment. Hence, the strategies of the entire wood products industry (i.e., the sawmill, plywood, chipboard, fiberboard, building wood, carpentry and woodworking industries) are considered. In this thesis, sawmills refer to the firms in which the primary objective is sawn timber production, not producing chips for the needs of the pulp mills (e.g. Kallio, 2001).

Sawmills have a central role in the forest industry. By paying two-thirds of forest owners' stumpage earnings, the sawmill industry has a major impact on motivating forest owners to manage their forests, sell wood and supply wood raw material for the entire forest industry (i.e., wood products industry and pulp and paper industries). Approximately 90% of all wood raw material used by the wood products industry is channeled through sawmills. Therefore, the sawmills are like "a hub" that procures wood and distributes sawn timber to other actors in the sawn timber value chains (also referred to as wood value chains in this thesis). The wood value chains consist of actors that transform trees into solid wood products. As typical in manufacturing, these chains are long and complex (Niemelä & Smith, 1996), characterized by several business-to-business (B2B) relationships. The associated risk is that firms operate in silos, without considering the influence of their actions on others in the value chain or on their overall profitability (Katunzi, 2011).

The greatest cost item for the sawmill industry is wood raw material, often accounting for more than 70% of all operating costs (Hansen et al., 2013). Approximately four-fifths of sawn timber ends as direct or as further processed products for construction. This exposes the industry to cyclical fluctuations in demand and product prices. In effect, highly volatile wood raw material and sawn timber prices are the most significant factors determining the industry's business success (Toppinen et al. 2013). According to FAOSTAT (2018), on average, 68% of sawn timber production was exported by the three largest countries exporting sawn timber globally (Canada, Russian Federation and Sweden) in 2012 through 2016. In Finland, the corresponding figure was 71%. Therefore, as the industry is dependent on sawn timber exports, changes in the global markets (e.g., demand, supply, exchange rates, cost levels of competing countries) reflect both wood raw material and sawn timber prices. In the 21st century, the profitability of the Finnish wood products industry has declined rather steadily. In addition to the exchange rates and increased raw material prices, the profitability problems within the sawmill industry have resulted from wood raw material availability, global oversupply of sawn timber and economic uncertainty.

The global financial crisis relentlessly demonstrated the sawmill industry's vulnerability to economic fluctuations. The European sawn timber markets plunged in 2008, remaining stagnated for several years (Hurmekoski et al., 2015). Deteriorated competitiveness was witnessed also in the Finnish sawmill industry in the 2010s (Mattila et al., 2016). Despite the nascent recovery of the global economy from 2016 onwards, the increased sawn timber demand has not counterbalanced rising costs, keeping the industry's profitability low. However, some firms have been competitive with a product-driven business strategy. For example, Hansen et al. (2015) discovered that firms focusing on a differentiation strategy

perform financially better than those executing a cost leadership strategy. This finding was explained by increasing demand for new bio-based products and firms' agility developing new dynamic capabilities, which may help discover insights into maintaining low costs.

The sawmill industry's challenges largely lie in its business strategies. The industry is often described as mature and commodity-focused (e.g., Brege et al., 2010; Stendahl et al., 2013; Toppinen et al., 2013), with low levels of customer understanding and innovation (Han & Hansen, 2017; Hansen et al., 2017). The generally maintained assumption is that a production-oriented business logic predominates the sawmill industry. Characteristic of this logic include firms seeking profitability through production efficiency (e.g., large production volumes, cost reductions and the optimal usage of raw materials) (Lähtinen & Toppinen, 2008) and marketing often being merely a responsibility of firms' sales departments (Hansen & Juslin, 2011). In addition to operational efficiency, a well-functioning wood raw material markets has been considered a prerequisite for the sawmill industry's competitiveness. This means continuous and steady raw material flows from forests at a competitive price.

As the society in general, the sawmill industry's business environment is becoming increasingly complex. Globalization, fierce competition, technological advancements, climate change, increasing competition for raw materials and fluctuating and diversified customer demands (Näyhä et al., 2015; Han & Hansen, 2016) affect the role of the industry's traditional sources of competitiveness. These changes have often been considered a threat to the industry, but the impacts can also be positive. For example, globalization increases not only competition but also markets for wood products. While climate change may increase pressures to decrease annual cutting of trees, it can increase demand for wood as a building material. The changes, however, mean that the static efficiency, usage of physical production factors and economies of scale may not result in optimal financial outcomes in all situations (Toppinen et al., 2013). To find new paths for competitiveness, the sawmill industry needs new and creative combinations of all its resources, not only effective utilization of raw material (Lähtinen et al., 2009).

Recent developments within the field of marketing theory highlight that instead of having a focus on goods or services, marketing should stress service and the customers role in business (Saarijärvi et al. 2017). This differs from traditional, production-oriented views, where value is perceived as embedded in goods, and customers "destroy" this value. Improved customer focus has also been increasingly linked to the forest industry's future competitiveness (Niemelä et al., 1996; Uusitalo, 2005; Toppinen et al., 2011; Hansen et al., 2015; Mattila, 2015; Mattila et al., 2016) and innovation (Nybakk et al., 2011; Hansen et al., 2017). Also, innovative utilization of the information and communication technologies (ICT) has been noted (Cohen & Kozak, 2001; Hetemäki, 2010). A common factor for customer focus, innovation and ICT is their potential to provide superior customer value, which is the source of a firm's long-term success (Woodruff, 1997). Firms' abilities to create superior customer value is closely linked with customer orientation (Narver & Slater, 1990). Customer-oriented firms can outperform their rivals by learning from customers' needs (Payne et al., 2008), sensing fundamental changes in the business environment (Khanagha et al., 2017) and providing improved offerings or innovations that fulfill the customers' needs (Brady & Cronin, 2001).

Research on service marketing places customers at the core of the business (e.g., Grönroos, 1995; Vargo & Lusch, 2008a, 2008b; Grönroos, 2011a; Gummesson & Mele, 2010; Heinonen et al., 2010; Kowalkowski et al., 2013; Heinonen & Strandvik, 2015). "Service" is a strategic choice, focusing on how firms can support customers' value creation through integrating with customers (Saarijärvi et al., 2014). The service perspective is viewed

as "revolutionary" by containing the potential to transform marketing with an organizationwide, customer-oriented attitude, hence improving a firm's relevance to its customers (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014). This contrasts with production-oriented views that regard marketing as a separate function (*ibid.*).

Novel technological solutions are increasingly changing the dynamics of customer orientation and customer value creation. Digitalization enables an improved interaction within a firm and between its stakeholders (Matt et al., 2015; Parida et al., 2015). From the firm's perspective, digitalization can facilitate the creation of customer understanding and the emergence of better offerings or innovations (Lerch & Gotsch 2015). From the customers' perspective, digitalization can improve customers' value perception in numerous ways: in addition to better products and services targeted at customer needs, transparency can be added as the customers have much more information available to evaluate the offering's potential benefits and costs. This is important, because customers increasingly interact with firms through electronic channels. Imaginative application of digitalization can provide opportunities to transform or reshape existing business, offering completely new ways to stand out from rivals (Porter and Heppelmann 2014; Henriette et al. 2015). Although digital technologies are assumed to play an active role in developing the service-based business and value co-creation in manufacturing industries, little is known about the ways in which digital technologies can disrupt a firm's business strategies (Ardolino et al., 2018)

Despite the suggested advantages of customer orientation and emerging technologies supporting customer-oriented business, only limited empirical evidence suggests their potential in the forest industry. In particular, research focusing the ways firms can support customers' value creation through integrating with customers (i.e., service) is limited. Contemporary literature seems to focus more on operational effectiveness (Hansen et al., 2006), while research on organizational aspects, such as business strategy or business model transformation, is scarce. Those studies focusing on strategic issues have only recently emphasized customer-focus and a firm's resources in strategy implementation (see Hansen et al., 2006, 2017; Mattila & Roos, 2014; Näyhä et al., 2015; Mattila et al., 2016; Han & Hansen, 2017). Research focusing on the technological development in the forest sector is largely neglected as technology "is often taken as given" (Hetemäki, 2010). In particular, the possibilities of technology to improve the sector's competitiveness have been ignored. Consequently, only limited guidance exists for industry managers about the potential of customer orientation (Hansen et al., 2006), interaction and value creation with customers (Toppinen et al., 2013). Further, little research has been conducted on the relationship between innovation and competitiveness (Hansen, 2010). This makes the development of customer-centric business within the wood products industry challenging.

1.2. The purpose of this thesis

According to Näyhä, Pelli and Hetemäki, (2015, p. 385), "*it is not enough only to recognize the need for renewal but also to develop the necessary capacities and new thinking to make it possible*." Therefore, to address the above-described challenges faced by the sawmill industry, the aim of this thesis is to explore the industry's business transformation toward customer orientation in B2B context. As service-based businesses are increasingly viewed as offering better premises for customer value creation compared to traditional, production-oriented business logic, a service logic (SL) (Grönroos, 2008, 2006; Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014) is introduced to examine the transformation. More precisely, the study attempts to

increase understanding of the potential of customer orientation, innovation and digitalization and determine how these approaches could help industry managers develop service-based businesses. The potential benefits are explored through literature on customer orientation, open innovation, service logic and digitalization. Although roundwood markets and political decisions (e.g., subsidy for forest chips) also affect the sawmill industry's competitiveness, these topics are not addressed in this thesis. Based on the identified gaps in earlier studies, the research focuses on the following questions:

- 1) What are the potential benefits of customer-orientation, open innovation and digitalization in improving the sawmill industry's customer value creation and the industry's long-term competitiveness?
- 2) What are the business development needs required to improve customer orientation within the industry?

The research has been implemented in three complimentary studies that address the main questions from different viewpoints. These individual studies have been reported in Articles I through III. Table 1 summarizes the aim of this thesis and the research questions. To clarify the specific contributions of the individual articles to this thesis, the core interests of the articles are also presented in Table 1.

Aim of the research	To explore the potential benefits of customer orientation, innovation and digitalization in the wood products industry's renewal			
	Research questions	Core interest		
Article I	How can one increase the supplier's willingness to share its ideas and contribute to the buyer's innovation process?	Exploring ways to gain access to distributed knowledge across the firm's boundaries and to foster value creation through open innovation.		
Article II	What are the needs of sawmills' B2B customers as defined by customers themselves, and how do these needs differ from the way in which sawmills see them? How could the business of sawmills be developed based on the needs of direct customers (further processors) and indirect customers (industrial end- customers)?	Exploring how sawmills' B2B customers perceive sawmills' current customer orientation and aims to uncover the drivers of the customers' value creation.		
Article III	How could the better utilization of digitalization improve customer- orientation and competitive advantage of firms within the wood value chains as defined by the industry stakeholders themselves, and how should business be developed?	Exploring the potential of digitalization to create value within the wood products industry and to reshape the wood products industry's business models toward customer-orientation.		

The way the research questions are linked and create the basis for the subsequent article is described in Section 3.1.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter introduces the theoretical background of this thesis. The chapter begins with a review of the business strategies in the forest industry to better understand the current state of the sawmill business and its success factors. In addition, the chapter addresses how the main concepts of the study (open innovation, customer orientation and digitalization) are connected and relevant to the wood products industry. The chapter proceeds by introducing dominant approaches to value creation and to the competitive advantage of a firm. To achieve long-term competitiveness, firms need to provide superior customer value (Woodruff, 1997). Customer orientation, which is a strategic approach to value creation and viewed as a source of superior customer value, is discussed next, followed by different perspectives on customer value creation. In particular, the difference between value delivered by an offering (i.e. the traditional, manufacturing view) and value creation in relationships (i.e., the customer-oriented view) is presented to understand how customers can extract value from the usage of resources. Thereafter, the discussion about relationship value expands by introducing "service" as a central concept and by examining its linkage to business logic that focus on customer value. Specifically, the "service logic" (SL), which is applied as the main conceptual approach in this thesis, is discussed in more detail. Innovation interlinks customer focus and firm success (Han et al., 1998; Agarwal et al., 2003; Kirca et al., 2005) because learning from customers and other stakeholders can foster development of solutions and innovations that offer greater customer satisfaction (Adams et al., 1998; Brady et al. 2001). The final chapter demonstrates why innovation, particularly the concept of open innovation, and value creation are important in today's business environment. Further, it explains how open innovation can contribute to service-based business, as well as why digitalization is a core of innovation.

2.1. Evolution of business strategies in the forest industry

The main strategic orientations in the global forest sector are forestry orientation, production orientation and market orientation (Cohen & Kozak, 2001; Hansen & Juslin, 2005; Toppinen et al., 2013). Until the 1950s, the high demand for forest products ensured the profitability of firms, and the main focus of businesses executing forestry orientation was to ensure efficient extraction of trees from forests (Cohen et al., 2001). Technological developments in the 1960s and 1970s enabled maximization of production efficiency and minimization of production costs, shifting the focus from forestry orientation to product orientation (Cohen et al., 2001; Anne Toppinen et al., 2013). Within this business logic, firms' marketing is regarded as equal to sales (Hansen et al., 2005). Further, the business is dominated by mass production, while the customers and the product end-users are set aside (*ibid*.). As the focus is in cost reductions and process efficiency, this strategy often results in investments in high-tech production technologies (Hansen et al., 2013). In product-oriented strategies, competitive advantage is based on tangible assets (e.g., products' functionality and utility),

which is an effective strategy in conditions of high demand, simple customer needs and limited competition (Hansen et al., 2011). This is not the case in the wood products industry, where demand fluctuates, customer needs are increasingly complex and the environment is fiercely competitive.

In strategy development and implementation, value is a key consideration (Ulaga, 2001). By the end of the 20th century, changes in the business environment (e.g., globalization, economic downturns, changing customer needs) shifted the forest industry's focus toward the customer-provider relationship and market orientation (Cohen et al., 2001; Hansen et al., 2005). This shift reflected the development of modern marketing theories that contend that customers, not a firm, create value (Zeithaml, 1998). Market orientation, also referred to as customer orientation, closely links to firms' competencies to interact with customers, as well as the firms' learning and innovation capabilities (Han et al., 1998). Several studies, however, support the view that the forest industry is still strongly product-oriented (e.g., Stendahl & Roos, 2008; Husso & Nybakk, 2010; Hansen et al., 2011; Toppinen et al., 2013). In practice, the industry's means to improve customer orientation meant increased interaction with customers to provide value-added products and services (Toivonen et al., 2005; Hansen et al., 2006; Toppinen et al., 2013) and customer segmentation (Cohen & Kozak, 2001). Instead of representing customer orientation, these measures reflect differentiation strategy characteristic for goods-centered businesses (i.e., product orientation). Thus, instead of being a core of a business, the customers were treated as targets for an offering. More support for this view is provided by the recent literature review, which revealed the wood products industry's strategic research has been recently focused on "technology solutions as means to serve customer better, not on providing new services and new business models and strategies related to them" (Näyhä et al., 2015, p. 384).

A strong emphasis exists towards customer-oriented business approaches, which call for progressively-minded entrepreneurs with customer-oriented management skills (Spetic et al., 2016). Several forestry researchers have voiced that customer-oriented business approaches should be applied to examine the forest industry's strategic issues (e.g., Hurmekoski & Hetemäki, 2013; Stendahl et al., 2013; Mattila & Roos, 2014; Näyhä et al., 2015; Mattila et al., 2016). Identified development needs relate to the firms' ability to develop new types of products, services and customer interfaces (Hansen & Juslin, 2005), as well as on their ability to utilize intangible resources (i.e., knowledge) in business (Cohen & Kozak, 2001). Research has also suggested that the wood products industry should be "like any other high-end, highly technological, and knowledge-based business" where managers are able to tailor their manufacturing competencies according to their target markets (Spetic et al., 2016, p. 25). The strong emphasis on knowledge utilization (i.e., transforming scattered information into valueadded activity) or service (i.e., using firm resources for the benefit of a customer) has resulted in views where knowledge orientation (Cohen et al., 2001) or service orientation (Toppinen et al., 2013; Wan, 2014) are suggested as the next possible paradigms of the forest industry. The term "service" suggests that firms alone do not create value, but instead value derives from collaboration with customers, suppliers, employees and other stakeholders. Thereby, service means broader and more supportive roles in the customers' value creation process (Grönroos, 2008). Contemporary business research in the forest industry context seems to fail to provide sufficient guidance in these needs. More knowledge about how to develop firms' strategies and improve competitiveness through customer orientation and innovation is needed (Knowles et al., 2008).

To maximize the overall benefit of a customer-oriented business approaches, customercentered thinking should pass through the value chain instead of just being applied by an individual firm. This means coordinated and efficient inter-firm and intra-firm communication (Han & Hansen, 2017) that ensures effective processes, accurate and timely understanding of customers' needs, and better opportunities to meet these needs. For instance, an information transfer from previous or subsequent processes can have a crucial effect on process efficiency in wood value chains (Uusitalo, 2005). The chain complexity, however, may challenge the information transformation about customers' needs back to the upstream value chain (Peltoniemi, 2013). Rapid development of ICTs have brought customer interfaces, learning from customers and innovation to a new level, disrupting prevailing business models. For example, digitalization is viewed as a way to address complex customer interactions (Lerch & Gotsch, 2015; Matt et al., 2015), providing an effective tool to overcome the chain complexity. By allowing access to a broad range of information sources, new opportunities for service-based business and innovation emerge (Lusch & Vargo, 2014). Some researchers have even claimed that digitalization is the core of the next industrial revolution (e.g., Brynjolfsson & McAfee, 2012).

Several factors should be considered when transforming the wood products industry. Environmental and social sustainability are increasingly emphasized by consumers (e.g. Vidal & Kozak 2008; Panwar & Hansen 2009, Toivonen, 2011, Toppinen et al., 2013; Pätäri et al. 2015). This profoundly characterizes customer relationships, services and business development within the wood products industry. Operational requirements, such as wood raw material availability (Lähtinen, 2007; Hansen et al. 2013), requirements for more optimal use of raw materials (e.g., Kivinen, 2004; Nordmark, 2005; Song & Usenius, 2007; Lähtinen & Toppinen, 2008; Rummukainen, 2017), and logistics and lead times (e.g., Carlsson & Rönnqvist, 1999; Arce et al. 2002; Uusitalo, 2005), also generate dependencies, limitations and demands within the wood value chains. Investment costs can also be significant. Although there are always factors that are beyond the control of an individual firm, many challenges and bottlenecks can be turned into opportunities to create customer value (e.g. through digitalization) and to differentiate from competitors.

2.2. Theories on the competitive advantage of a firm

A firm's competitive advantage has been regarded as a central theme in the field of strategic management (Porter, 1996; Hoskisson et al., 1999; Furrer et al., 2008). Although having multiple, and often noncompatible, definitions (Srivastava et al., 2001), competitive advantage is commonly conceptualized as an ability to generate higher value for a firm's stakeholders compared to the value that its current or potential competitors offer (Barney, 1991). This ability is a result of a firm's internal factors (strategy and organizational structure) and external factors (business environment) (Caves, 1980). Competitive advantage is demonstrated in several ways. For example, customers may be willing to buy products or services at a profit despite the competitor being superior in size, strength, product quality or distribution power (Coyne, 1986).

Two dominant frameworks have been used to explain a firm's competitive advantage: the market-based view (MBV) and the resource-based view (RBV) (Porter, 1980, 1985; Conner, 1991). Instead of competing frames, these views are complementary, "*providing the greatest utility when employed together*" (Peteraf & Bergen, 2003). Understanding these frameworks is important to comprehend the prevailing business logic in the wood products industry and these methods' suitability to meet the needs of today's business environment.

According to MBV, a firm's competitive advantage depends on its position within an industry and its ability to differentiate itself from its peers. By using the Five Forces Model (customers, suppliers, new entrants, substitute products and competitors), a firm can assess an industry's attractiveness relative to its structure (Porter, 1980, 1985). The firm can also determine which of the three generic competitive strategies (low cost leadership, differentiation or focus) can generate higher value than its competitors (*ibid.*). The creation of superior customer value requires different resources and strengths, managerial style and organizational arrangements in each of these generic strategies (Toppinen et al., 2013). For example, firms focusing on a cost leadership strategy usually aim to offer a lower price to sustain a low-cost position compared to competitors (Porter, 1980). In turn, firms pursuing a differentiation strategy need to focus on product properties, brand image, customer service and marketing channel control (ibid.). Furthermore, MBV contends that firms able to provide customer value more efficiently (lower cost), or to offer products for which consumers are willing to pay a premium price (differentiation), survive in the competition between firms (Reed et al., 2000). Consequently, a firm following these strategies can beat its rivals by either being cheaper or different.

At the turn of the 1980s and 1990s, academics in strategic management advanced the traditional (market-based) view by stating that instead of products and market positioning, the competition should be based on resources and capabilities (Wernerfelt, 1984; Barney, 1986; Prahalad et al., 1990). With roots in the work of Penrose (1995), the resource-based view (RBV) considers a firm as a bundle of unique capabilities and (heterogenous) resources, which can be converted into final products or services (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993). According to RBV, firms can excel in competition if they possess either tangible resources (physical things) or intangible resources (capabilities) that have strategic relevance (Barney, 1991). This implies that over all a firm's resources, competitive advantage can only result from those resources that are valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable and non-substitutable (VRIN) (Barney, 1991). Barney (1991) cites prior definitions for firm resources: "all assets, capabilities, competencies, organizational processes, firm attributes, information. knowledge, and so forth that are controlled by a firm and that enable the firm to conceive of and implement strategies that improve its efficiency and effectiveness (Daft, 1983)." As this new approach was able to explain differences between firms instead of industries (Rumelt, 1991), RBV was considered one of the substantial theories in the field of strategic management and business strategy (Mele & Della Corte, 2013). While strategy defines the firm's objectives, plans and actions to maximize profit (Hansen et al., 2006), the organizational structure refers to a firm's operative capabilities and resources to implement the strategy. The operative capabilities determines how the tasks are internally allocated and coordinated and how decisions are made within the firm (Caves, 1980).

According to Coyne (1986), competitive advantage is meaningful when the following conditions are met: (1) there is a consistent difference in the key buying criteria between a producer's and competitors' offerings, (2) the difference results from a capability gap between the producer and its competitors, and (3) the two previous conditions are expected to continue over time. This suggests that a long-term competitive advantage necessitates knowledge about customers' needs and an ability to offer products and services that satisfy those needs. Also, there must be barriers to imitation (Reed & DeFilippi, 1990). These are the premises of sustainable competitive advantage (SCA) (Coyne, 1986).

Barney (1991, p. 99) argues that "firms obtain sustained competitive advantage by implementing strategies that exploit their internal strengths, through responding to environmental opportunities, while neutralizing external threats and avoiding internal *weaknesses.* "While rare and valuable resources result in temporary competitiveness, SCA derives from resources that are difficult or costly to imitate. Such resources are often intangible in nature, referring to organizational knowledge and skills. More precisely, tacit knowledge (Reed et al., 1990) and social complexity (e.g., reputation, managerial relationships, relationships with clients and suppliers, and organizational culture) may give a firm an advantage over its peers (Mele & Della Corte, 2013). However, Coyne (1986) states that possessing SCA does not guarantee financial success, and a firm can also succeed without it if markets are growing rapidly. Tacit knowledge is opposite to explicit knowledge, and several authors argue that tacit knowledge largely defines a firm's competitive advantage (Nonaka & Takeuchi, 1995; Teece et al., 1997; Johannessen et al., 2001; Cavusgil et al., 2003). This knowledge is realized through an individual's skills, techniques, knowledge and routines (Lam, 2000). Since tacit knowledge is not easily coded, transferred or interpreted, it is difficult for competitors to imitate (Teece, 1998).

Over time, the theories and approaches to strategic management have developed through RBV (Hoskisson et al., 1999). For example, the dynamic capabilities view (DCV) is grounded in an idea that resources are actually the source of capabilities, which leads to competitive advantage (Grant, 1991). The DCV highlights the adaptive nature of firm resources and capabilities to the surrounding business environment through responsiveness and agility (Agarwal et al., 2007). However, this view fails to explain how dynamic capabilities can support provision of integrated products and services and how a firm can take a part in customers' value creation processes (Rasouli et al., 2015). The spin-off of RBV, relational view, states that instead of being owned by a single firm, significant resources extend beyond one firm's boundaries, and inter-firm linkages result in supernormal profit (relational rent) and competitive advantage (Dyer & Singh, 1998). The knowledge-based view (KBV), in turn, extends RBV by centering on human capital and assumes a firm should focus on the creation and transfer of knowledge in the increasingly global, turbulent and complex knowledge-based economy (Kogut & Zander, 1996; Johannessen et al., 2001). The knowledge-based economy, or knowledge economy, is driven by rapid development of information and communication technologies, and it is viewed as the most important resource for firm growth (ICT) (Johannessen et al., 2001). Although knowledge is important in other economic systems (e.g., industrial economy), the knowledge economy puts more emphasis on intellectual capabilities, which it considers primary, over physical assets or natural resources (Powell & Snellman, 2004).

A need to provide highly customized integrated solutions through collaboration and value networks has expanded the ideas of RBV in the service marketing stream (Rasouli et al. 2015). According to Mele & Della Corte (2013), instead of having intrinsic value, resources become valuable when they are applied and integrated. The focus of strategic management has increasingly shifted from tangible to intangible resources (i.e., knowledge), and the role of customers as resource integrators and value creators has been highlighted (e.g., Vargo & Lusch, 2008b). Simultaneously, the role of digital technologies, along with digital capabilities in the service context, has become increasingly central (Rasouli et al. 2015; Ardolino et al. 2018). The customer-centric approach is discussed in more detail in the following two sections, which introduce the concepts of customer orientation and service-based business as perspectives on value creation.

2.3. Views on customer orientation

Customer orientation is a strategic approach to a firm's competitive advantage. As a successful business approach (Woodruff, 1997; Teece, 2010), customer orientation enables a firm to have a better position to gain long-term competitiveness (Woodruff, 1997) through offering improved quality compared to peers (Saura et al., 2005). Putting customers and customer value at the core of a firm's activities is not new. A pioneering contribution accentuating customer orientation was published by Drucker (1954). Levitt (1960) amplified and expanded Drucker's ideas by noting that firms are too focused on their production processes instead of on satisfying customer needs. To keep business growing, firms should adopt a customer-oriented marketing strategy as an organization-wide approach instead of thinking about the strategy as a responsibility of the marketing department.

Levitt's ideas have been criticized regarding the coverage of customer orientation. Several authors argued that the concept should be broader, including the competitive environment and the firm's capabilities to respond to customers' demands (Ansoff, 1965; Mintzberg, 1994). A new term, "market orientation," was introduced to clarify this distinction. Over time, the concepts of "customer orientation" and "market orientation" have been used interchangeably (Korhonen, 2016). Sometimes, these concepts have been treated as synonyms (Deshpande et al., 1993; Berthon et al., 2004). Narver and Slater (1990) regard customer orientation as one dimension of market orientation. They argued that in a market-oriented firm, the entire organization is focused on meeting customer needs through three dimensions: customer orientation, competitor orientation and inter-functional coordination. Still, customer orientation as the most fundamental component of a firm's performance (Narver et al., 1990; Woodruff, 1997; Kirca et al., 2005; Frambach et al., 2016).

Customer orientation is defined as "the sufficient understanding of one's target buyers to be able to create superior value for them continuously" (Narver & Slater, 1990, p. 21). This implies that customer-oriented firms gain competitive advantage by learning from the customers and by responding with goods and services that consistently offer the customers superior value and greater satisfaction (Brady et al., 2001).

Customer orientation goes beyond information processing, requiring "interfunctional mechanisms which impregnate that information and translate it into specific action" (Saura et al., 2005). This interaction between a firm and a customer helps a firm to understand the customer's business environment and changes within it (Payne et al., 2008). To turn the interaction into customer value, firms need to identify, assess and address specific customer needs, as well as to react proactively to customers' changing and emerging demands (Lenka et al., 2017). In other words, there are two requirements for a firm's capabilities. First, the firm must have a capability to gain knowledge about customers' needs and to implement actions to satisfy these needs (Day, 2000). This capability refers to knowledge about customers' current, latent and future needs, which are potentially important but may be difficult for the customer to describe (Slater & Narver, 1998; Blocker et al., 2011). Continuous sensing of customers' latent and future needs also may result in innovation; thus, these needs are considered a consistent driver of customer value (Blocker, 2011). The second capability requirement is a willingness and an ability to adapt the business to meet changing customer needs (Gatignon & Xuereb, 1997; Eggert et al., 2006). This requirement implies that customer orientation is part of organizational culture (Deshpande et al., 1993; Homburg & Pflesser, 2000), which affects an organization's values, norms, artifacts (e.g., stories, rituals) and behaviors (Homburg et al., 2000). In addition to providing an offering that fulfills

or exceeds the customers' expectations, customer orientation can comprise several other components, such as committing to customers, measuring customer satisfaction and understanding current and evolving customer value chains (Narver et al., 1990).

The concept has been criticized for being extensive, varying from incremental to trivial business development efforts (Bennett & Cooper, 1979), or threatening firms' leadership positions if they listen to their customers too mechanically (Christensen & Bower, 1996, p. 198). This criticism indicates that a firm has to find an optimal level of customer orientation. over which the added customer orientation does not offset the added value (Narver et al., 1990). For example, many firms seem to underestimate, misunderstand or overlook customers' needs (Blocker, 2011). This may result in firms losing their opportunity to adapt to the changes in customer demand faster than their competitors (Flint et al., 2002). Higher customer orientation, in turn, does not always lead to higher customer value. If a firm focuses too heavily on current customers' existing needs (Christensen & Bower, 1996), it may lose its opportunity to find new alternatives (Im & Workman, 2004). Value can be also destroyed (Grönroos, 2011b). Value creation is highly associated with the practices and persons executing an interaction (Guenzi & Troilo, 2007), as well as with the firm's capacity to manage this interaction. Understanding a customer's needs and wants increases the firm's understanding of how to contribute to the customers' value creation process, or alternatively, which of its actions debilitate value creation (Grönroos, 2011b). Thus, firms can apply customer-oriented business strategies in many ways and the decision is always firm-specific (Korhonen, 2016).

2.4. Approaches to value creation

Value is a demand-side concept (Peteraf et al., 2003). No consensus definition exists for the term (Lindgreen et al., 2012), and sometimes. the concept has even been criticized as being elusive (Woodall, 2003). However, most conceptualizations identify a trade-off between benefits and sacrifices as perceived by the receiver (Zeithaml, 1988). Contemporary literature also identifies two distinct perspectives on value creation: value delivered by an offering (i.e., goods and services) and value of relationships (Lindgreen et al., 2012).

Value delivered by an offering has also been labelled as "industrial value" (Schlesinger & Heskett, 1991) and represents goods-dominant logic (GDL) (Vargo & Lusch, 2004b). According to this logic, a firm's primary focus is on producing and selling products and services in which value is embedded during the production process (Saarijärvi et al., 2014). Customers are seen to "destroy" this value in the consumption process (Porter, 1985). In other words, a firm's role is to provide an offering that best fits the customer's processes, and afterward, it is a customer's responsibility to make effective use of this given resource (e.g., equipment) (Grönroos, 2011a). The customers evaluate the difference between benefits (e.g. quality, functionality and utility) and costs (e.g., price, owning cost, installation, training, repair) (Vargo & Lusch, 2004a, 2008b; Keränen & Jalkala, 2013). This implies that the customers' value perception is determined both by monetary benefits (Terho et al., 2012) and by the use value. This perception is highly affected by how well the offering manages to fulfil the customer's needs in use situations (Woodruff, 1997). The goods-dominant strategy can be viable if a firm has gained a permanent technical advantage or its costs are permanently lower than its competitors (Grönroos, 2007). The firms applying this logic strive for higher efficiency, but there is a risk of competing prices (*ibid*.).

Over time, value creation in relationships has gained a foothold (Ulaga & Eggert, 2006; Corsaro & Snehota, 2010). As the concept indicates, this perspective is based on the assumption that instead of value distributed by the provider to the customers, customer value is embedded in relationships. This means that customers evaluate perceived benefits throughout the relationship with a provider (Ravald & Grönroos, 1996). Both the dvadic relationship between the provider and the customer and connected relationships affect the customer's value perception (Walter et al., 2001). Numerous features influence this perception, reflecting both the core offering and organizational capabilities. These features include location, innovativeness of the supplier and future capabilities (Lindgreen et al., 2012). They also reflect product quality, delivery, time to market, service support, personal interaction, supplier knowledge and operation costs (Ulaga et al., 2006). Both tangible and intangible assets create value (Ulaga et al., 2006). Because the customers' needs and wants change over time (Day, 2000; Eggert et al., 2006), value is a dynamic and complex concept (Keränen & Jalkala, 2014), and it is always subjective (Vargo & Lusch, 2008a, 2008b). Thus, the parties in the relationship do not necessarily share similar perceptions of what creates value for the customer (Corsaro et al., 2010).

The discussion on value creation has progressed further, emphasizing a service view (Lindgreen et al., 2012). Scholars in the service marketing stream explain that instead of being created by production and distribution, customer value derives from co-creation (Grönroos, 2008, 2011a; Vargo & Lusch, 2004a, 2008b; Grönroos & Voima, 2013). New and innovative service-based business practices have been suggested to help firms meet customer needs and survive in competition (Saarijärvi et al., 2014). Core in these suggestions is that firms should take a broader, supportive role in the customer's value creation process (Grönroos, 2008). In this, technology provides new ways to form relationships between humans and digital devices (Gummerus et al., 2017). Next, the views on service-based businesses are discussed in more detail.

2.5. Service-based business logic

Since the 1970s, services have increasingly become a focal issue in economic exchange (e.g., Vargo & Lusch, 2004a, 2008b; Grönroos & Helle, 2010; Grönroos, 2011b, 2011a). Earlier, the marketing mix was the most recognized and used corporate model. This model includes the Four Ps of marketing: product, price, place and promotion (Grönroos, 1997). However, this model was insufficient in the changing business environment. Attention started to shift from value delivered by an offering to value created by a customer and by the provider-customer interaction, also expressed in terms of value-in-exchange and value-in-use. "Value-in-exchange" refers to firm value embedded in resources and realized during the sales process (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014). "Value-in-use" emphasizes customer value realized during the usage of resources (*ibid.*). This difference triggered the development of service-based business practices (Saarijärvi et al., 2014), strongly challenging the traditional view (Saarijärvi et al., 2017). Value creation was increasingly interpreted in terms of service, and customer orientation was seen as its core and as the premise for value creation.

The close linkage between service and value creation required a conceptual clarification: making a distinction between service (singular) and services (plural) and highlighting the importance of the former. According to Grönroos and Gummerus (2014, p. 208), "service is the use of resources in a way that supports customers' everyday practices – physical, mental, virtual, possessive – and thereby facilitate their value creation." Therefore, service (singular)

considers how a firm's offering (e.g., services, delivery, communication) can benefit the customer and create customer value and is a distinct concept from *services* (plural), which are vehicles for value creation, like goods. Thus, service is a perspective on value creation, while services can be viewed as a category of market offerings (Edvardsson et al., 2005). A service-based business is different from individual and organizational perspectives. For individuals, "service-based" means "a set of attitudes and behaviors affecting the quality of interaction between an organization's employees and its customers" (Hogan, Hogan, and Busch 1984, p. 167). From an organizational perspective, service orientation is a strategic approach, where processes and procedures are targeted to prioritize customer satisfaction, superior customer value creation, profitability and competitive advantage (Lytle & Timmerman, 2006). Often, B2B relationships have been considered distinct from businessto-consumer (B2C) relationships. In B2B settings, the business partners have more incentives to create long-term partnerships, emphasizing trust building and personal-level commitment (Handfield & Bechtel, 2002). This differs from B2C relationships, where a higher number of customers preclude creating a similar relationship. In service research, this dichotomy is increasingly blurred or even inaccurate (Wind, 2006; Dant & Brown, 2008; Vargo and Lusch, 2011).

Marketing literature divides business logic into three main perspectives that focus on customer value: service logic (SL) (Grönroos, 2007; Grönroos & Voima, 2013), customerdominant logic (CDL) (Heinonen et al., 2010, 2015) and service-dominant logic (SDL) (Vargo & Lusch, 2004a, 2008b). In particular, SDL and SL are well established perspectives in marketing research (Saarijärvi et al. 2017). In addition, SL and CDL are similar and in many parts overlapping and complementary (Baron et al., 2014). All three perspectives acknowledge the importance of the interface between the customer and the service provider (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014) and agree that value is a result of a process rather than an outcome (Grönroos & Helle, 2010). These views go beyond conventional customer orientation, as they mean "collaborating with and learning from customers and being adaptive to their individual and dynamic needs" (Vargo and Lusch 2004a, p. 6).

The perspectives have, however, different foci relating to the way in which value is created and the interaction taking place in the process. In SDL, both the provider and the customer participate in the value creation process in all circumstances and the value-creating role of the customer is ubiquitous (Vargo & Lusch, 2004a). Therefore, value is always co-created (Vargo, Maglio, et al., 2008). The role of goods is to enable access to the benefits offered by an organization and its competencies (e.g., knowledge and skills) (Saarijärvi et al. 2017). Thereby, goods are viewed as a mediator that are appliances in the value creation process (*ibid*.). Service logic considers the value-creating role of the customer primary and sees the co-creation as dependent on the actual interaction in the business relationship (Grönroos, 2007). In SL, goods are "resources like other physical objects such as credit cards and airline seats: the firm makes them available for money so that customers in their own processes will be able to use them in a way that creates value for them, as individuals, households or organizations" (Grönroos, 2006, p. 323). Thus, goods are viewed as value-supporting resources that require other resources (e.g., information) in order to transmit service (Saarijärvi et al. 2017).

Although marketing researchers' attitudes toward service orientation have been largely positive, these approaches have also been criticized. For example, SDL has been said to be too theoretical (e.g. Grönroos, 2011b; Kowalkowski et al., 2013). In turn, critics believe SL too strongly emphasizes an interaction between customers and a provider (Saarijärvi et al. 2017). However, in an increasingly digital world the nature if interaction changes as it may

not necessarily be immediate (Lenka et al., 2017). Compared to SDL, SL and CDL are more managerially oriented. CDL highlights the customer dominance and focuses on understanding customer activities and the engagement of providers in customers' processes (Heinonen et al., 2010, 2015). SL presents ten managerial principles summarizing the value creation in the service-based business (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014). The starting point is a categorization of the provider's and the customer's actions into three spheres: the sphere of the provider, the sphere of the customer and the joint sphere (Grönroos et al., 2013). Customers' value creation takes place in the customer sphere in a cumulative process in which value can also be destroyed. Customers use resources (e.g., goods, service activities and information) in a way that supports their everyday practices (Grönroos, 1979; Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014). The provider's role, in turn, is to facilitate the emergence of customer value in the provider sphere (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014), through service that integrates monetary or non-monetary resources (e.g., knowledge, skills, raw materials, technology) into an offering (Grönroos, 2011). Depending on the level of integration, the provider can either offer value propositions or directly influence customers' value fulfillment in value cocreation that occurs in the joint-sphere (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014).

The interpretation of service in terms of value creation transfers the focus from individual services to service relationships and processes. There are, however, also important trends in individual services. One of the most influential trends is the servitization of manufacturing (Oliva & Kallenberg, 2003; Neely, 2008; Wilkinson et al., 2009). Here, "services" usually refers to immaterial offerings added to the core material offering to expand customer value and customer relationships. Servitization is a widely applied strategy in manufacturers' B2B relationships (Kowalkowski, Witell, et al., 2013; Lerch et al., 2015). Typically, this strategy is applied to achieve improved product performance, a closer relationship with the customer, an extended product life-cycle and regular revenue payments (Baines et al., 2014). Today, the service business is increasingly viewed as a successful way to increase product margins and to address more complex customer needs (Gebauer et al., 2005).

Challenges in servitization have aroused broad interest among scholars. Incremental investments in extending the service business do not necessarily lead to improved competitiveness. Gebauer et al. (2005) calls the situation a service paradox, where the returns fail to cover higher costs. Often the service paradox results from limited managerial motivation to extend the service business. A typical hindrance is risk aversion, which limits the managers ability to accurately estimate the expected rewards.

However, the advancement of technology supports servitization. A successful service business requires systematic identification of customers' needs (De Brentani, 2001), as well as coordinated and transparent processes for implementation (Gebauer et al., 2005). To address customer needs, big data presents business opportunities as it has become possible to collect large quantities of data during customers everyday activities (Mayer-Schönberger & Cukier, 2013). Information technology, particularly digitalization, provides powerful tools and mechanisms to enhance the development of customer-oriented businesses (Lenka et al., 2017). Instead of only applying different strategic frameworks, managers should integrate emerging (technological) opportunities into strategic management (Harris & Twomey, 2010).

2.6. Opening the process of innovation

Innovation is considered the main way to achieve economic growth and competitiveness (Lawson & Samson, 2001; Zimmermann et al., 2016). A distinct concept of innovativeness,

"innovation" is the capacity to develop and implement new products (Ettlie & Rubenstein, 1981). Innovativeness depends on a company's skills, capabilities, knowledge base and strategy (Garcia & Calantone, 2002). Innovation, in turn, refers to a process where companies acquire and utilize new ideas and knowledge to solve problems (Laursen & Salter, 2006). The literature often divides innovation into three categories: product, process and business systems. While production-oriented firms may benefit from individual product or process innovations (Gatignon & Xuereb, 1997), customer-oriented firms benefit from a combination of these three elements in their innovation activities (Crespell et al., 2006).

Traditionally, firms have tended to rely on internal resources in innovation, and innovation processes have taken place in the framework of formal research and development (R&D) (Hossain et al., 2016). As knowledge, an enabler of innovation, is increasingly distributed outside company boundaries, the concept of open innovation has challenged this traditional approach (Chesbrough, 2003). Acknowledging the large innovation potential of external actors (Klioutch & Leker, 2011; Lager et al., 2015; Pulles et al., 2015; Schiele, Veldman, & Huttinger, 2011), the open innovation literature highlights that useful ideas originate both from inside and outside the firm. As such, the idea of collaboration and the utilization of external knowledge in a firm's R&D processes is not new. However, as early studies on collaborative development tended to be siloed, the open innovation concept aims to improve the understanding of synergies between a diverse set of external actors in the innovation processes (Bahemia & Squire, 2010).

Chesbrough (2006) conceptualizes open innovation as the purposive use of knowledge inflows and outflows, with the aim of accelerating internal innovation and market expansion. Although criticized as being "old wine in new bottles" (Christensen et al., 2005; Trott & Hartmann, 2009), and lacking a consistent theory (Gassmann et al., 2010), the emerging interest in new ideas and collaboration technologies makes the topic relevant (Remneland-Wikhamn et al., 2011). Consequently, academic research in the field of open innovation has rapidly increased over the last years (Linton, 2012; Nitzsche et al., 2016).

A central perception in the original idea of open innovation was that knowledge, and intellectual property rights (IPR) in particular, is a tradable asset (Chesbrough, 2003). Consequently, businesses may examine their IP portfolios and seek to sell or license out those intellectual assets that are not relevant for their core business. The early open innovation literature assumed that knowledge transfers from the customer to the provider, or vice versa, are mainly explicit. Recently, the concept of open innovation has been re-focused away from this one-way transfer to a bidirectional flow of both explicit and tacit knowledge (Paasi et al., 2014). By effectively utilizing both dimensions of knowledge (explicit and tacit), firms can gain sustainable competitive advantage (Johannessen et al., 2001). Holsapple and Singh (2001) remark that knowledge can yield competitive advantage for a firm, but only if designed and executed better than the firm's rivals.

Opening a business to external actors requires the development of appropriate organizational structures and managerial practices (Colombo et al., 2011). Often, this necessitates committing to a wholly new strategy. The strategy should affect all levels of a firm (Gianiodis et al., 2010), striving for a high degree of collaboration (Baraldi, 2009) and relationship closeness (Primo & Amundson, 2002). Trust, in turn, enhances the conditions for cooperation as it contributes to personal commitment, non-coercive power and long-term collaboration (Handfield & Bechtel, 2002; van Echtelt et al., 2008). Confidential business relationships can facilitate access to a wider range of knowledge sources, including tacit knowledge (Adler & Kwon, 2002). For this reason, trust is regarded as one of the most important success factors for open innovation (Paasi et al., 2010).

Despite the new developments, an old warning by Alter and Hage (1993) is worth remembering: despite the many benefits that collaboration may provide for innovation, there are numerous associated problems. These are, for example, a loss of control, autonomy, legitimacy, stability, reputation, financial and competitive position, and delays arising from project management problems. Other sources of potential risks for the implementation of an open innovation-oriented strategy include high knowledge search costs (Laursen et al., 2006), a lack of ability to utilize external knowledge, knowledge leakage and opportunistic behavior (Rosell, 2014). Opportunistic behavior may come into question, for instance, in the case of dependency with respect to the other party in the relationship (Jean et al., 2012; Schiele, Veldman, & Huttinger, 2011). Dependency means the other party's reliance on access to the counterpart's scarce resources (Pfeffer & Slancik, 1978). Just as a supplier may become dependent on a buyer, a buyer may become dependent on a supplier.

2.7. Leveraging digitalization to enhance customer orientation and innovation

In the increasingly complex business environment, firms' ability to utilize existing knowledge for innovativeness is one of the most significant factors affecting their performance (Brockman & Morgan, 2003). A widely accepted characterization of knowledge is a three-tier hierarchy of data, information and knowledge (Ragab & Arisha, 2013). Knowledge (meaningful information) is always based on information (organized set of data), which, in turn, is based on different datasets and data (raw facts) (Bhatt, 2001; Stevens et al., 2010). Information is an invisible asset that enables firms to leverage their other resources (Tippins & Sohi, 2003), but as such it does not guarantee the growth of organizations' knowledge bases (Stevens et al., 2010). In contrast, knowledge leads to increased competitiveness because it consists of *"unique patterns of interactions between technologies, techniques, and people,"* making it difficult for competitors to imitate (Bhatt, 2001, p. 70). A firm can build competitiveness based on its collective knowledge-base and on how effectively and how fast this knowledge is acquired and utilized in business (Davenport & Prusak, 1998). This makes both *time* (Ragab et al., 2013) and *technology* closely related to the value of knowledge.

By developing information technology infrastructures, firms can gain an access to knowledge, particularly to tacit knowledge (Cavusgil et al., 2003). Converting knowledge into actual value is critical and the challenge resides in identifying the appropriate knowledge (Malone, 2002). Personal-level tacit knowledge can be transferred into organizational-level explicit knowledge (Johannessen et al., 2001) through information acquisition, dissemination and shared interpretation that develops organizational memory (Tippins et al., 2003). This transference enables firms to adjust processes, products and services to develop new offerings or innovations (Gassmann & Zeschky, 2008; Nylen & Holmstrom, 2015) and to build customer value (Martelo-Landroguez & Cegarra-Navarro, 2014).

Aa growing body of literature describes how digitalization, also known as digital transformation, is disrupting business models in various industries (Kowalkowski et al., 2013; Lerch & Gotsch, 2015; Beier et al., 2017). Servitizing manufacturing is one industry that experiences important changes. Although transactions and communications within and between firms have been based on digital technologies for decades (Fedorowicz & Konsynski, 1992), the ability to act faster and differentiate from competitors has made digitalization a priority for managers and policymakers (Legner et al., 2017). Parviainen et al. (2017, p. 64) conceptualize digitalization as "changes in ways of working, roles, and

business offering caused by adoption of digital technologies in an organization, or in the operation environment of the organization." Thus, digitalization is enabled by digital technologies, or combinations of information, computing, communication and connectivity technologies, enabling an interconnection of products, processes and services (A. Bharadwaj et al., 2013). Advanced digital technologies allow firms to accelerate speed, reduce costs and integrate customers as co-designers and co-producers of value (Sambamurthy et al., 2003). Digitalization goes beyond turning current processes into digital versions of those processes (Parviainen et al., 2017): it is business-centric, aimed to improve customer focus (Matt et al., 2015) and should be not misinterpreted as a firm's IT strategy (Parviainen et al., 2017).

The digitization of society changes business fundamentally. First, digitization changes customers' demands as they expect availability of digital services (Langer, 2017). Second, firms must adapt their offerings, delivery mechanisms and entire organization to satisfy this demand (ibid.). According to Parviainen et al. (2017), digitalization offers three methods of business transformation: (1) improved internal efficiency (processes), (2) new productservice offerings and (3) the development of completely new ways of doing business. For example, digitalization can be used for building infrastructures within value chains, which enable quick and effective ways to acquire and disseminate information from various sources (Tippins et al., 2003). By analyzing this information, firms can decrease the level of human intervention and improve internal efficiency (Lejeune & Yakova, 2005; Zimmermann et al., 2016). This can lead to the elimination of manual steps, improved process accuracy, shortened response times, more efficient storing and distribution (Parviainen et al., 2017), and processes optimization (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014). The new offerings can apply to analyzed customer data used to create business intelligence (Parviainen et al., 2017) or to new functionalities added to the offering (Porter et al., 2014). The broader and deeper use of individuals' unique and dispersed knowledge following from digitalization provides better premises for innovation (Brynjolfsson & McAfee, 2012). Since innovations contain specialized knowledge from various disciplines, their distribution and transformation across geographical, physical and organizational boundaries has become more efficient (Remneland-Wikhamn et al., 2011). The development of completely new ways of doing business includes interactive platforms. These platforms, enabled by digitalization, foster engagement with customers and support the firm's role as a co-creator of customer value (Matt et al., 2015; Parida et al., 2015).

According to Matt et al. (2015), successful digital transformation requires the close alignment of four dimensions: (1) the use of technologies, addressing a firm's attitude toward new technologies and its ability to exploit them; (2) changes in value creation that are often connected to the adoption of new technologies; (3) structural changes, concerning the integration of new digital activities into a firm's other structures and (4) financial aspects, as either a driver or a bounding force for the transformation. Transition to the digital era may necessitate the gradual transition of today's IT functions from the role of service provider to enabler and innovator (Legner et al., 2017). This transition introduces the following requirements for capabilities of the IT function: (1) innovation, improving responsiveness to (e.g., customer-centric dynamic market developments collaboration, innovation management, flexible processes), (2) design, enabling customer-oriented software solutions and (3) transformation to drive the changes throughout the organization (ibid.). Most importantly, digital transformation requires consistent processes and knowledge management in firms (Berman, 2012). It is not self-evident that investments in digital technologies always pay off. Several studies indicate that while technical understanding is required, organizational capabilities are more critical to a successful outcome (Bharadwaj et al., 2013). These

capabilities include organizational learning (Tippins et al., 2003), leadership style (Seah et al., 2010; Verdú-Jover et al., 2014), and a firm's adaptive organizational culture (Alos-Simo et al., 2017). The whole organization should be involved in the change process, including operational processes, resources and internal and external users (Henriette et al., 2015).

If emerging technological advancements are neglected, firms in highly competitive industries are at risk of losing business opportunities (Parviainen et al., 2017). Kodak is often used as an example of a firm that failed to adapt its business according to disruptive technologies. This formerly strong and technologically advanced firm severely misjudged the future potential of digital photography business, pioneering its development. For this reason, the company filed for bankruptcy protection in 2012. Similarly, studies have been conducted about how firms have created irreversible consequences by locking themselves into a certain way of managing business, limiting their ability to see and react to changes in customers' needs (Das & Teng, 1999) or take into account new emerging technologies (Barr et al., 1992). Firms' vulnerability to market changes and technological shifts is real as market barriers become lower for new disruptive competitors (Henriette et al., 2015). However, the same changing business environment may create new opportunities to expand existing business if a company has the ability to adjust its business model accordingly (*ibid*.)

3. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

3.1. Study framework

The issue of escaping the commodity trap is pivotal for many traditional industry sectors, not the least the forest industry. For decades, the sources of competitiveness have been argued to rest on customer orientation and dynamic processes (i.e., continuous learning and innovation) over static efficiency and focus in production (Porter, 1994; Teece et al., 1997; Teece, 2007). As one of the most popular topics within marketing research, customer orientation is used as a strategic approach to examine opportunities for wood products industry's business transformation and to gain sustainable competitive advantage (SCA).

Figure 1 illustrates the theoretical framework and the focus of the sub-articles in this thesis. The SCA derives from a firm's capability to respond to the opportunities of the business environment with resources that are difficult or costly for peers to imitate (Barney, 1991). The resources refer to organizational skills and knowledge. To achieve the SCA, a firm needs to create and maintain an organizational culture that most effectively and efficiently pursues superior value creation for its customers (Narver et al., 1990). Customer orientation represents such organizational culture (*ibid.*). Closeness to customers fosters learning from their needs and the customers' business environment (Pavne et al., 2008). This helps firms develop new solutions and innovations that offer superior value and greater satisfaction (Adams et al., 1998; Brady et al. 2001). Digitalization is an effective way to improve closeness to customers and customer value (Matt et al., 2015; Lenka et al., 2017). Abundance of data, technology leaps and dynamic processes allows broader and deeper use of individuals' unique and dispersed knowledge and forms a premise for open innovation (Brynjolfsson & McAfee, 2012). Valuable sources of knowledge are not restricted only to customers, but suppliers and other stakeholders can also help a firm build its knowledgebase. Thus, the sources of a firm's competitiveness are increasingly distributed outside the firms' boundaries, making the concept of open innovation important.



Figure 1. Theoretical framework and focus of the articles

To generate innovations, it is important to understand how to gain access to scattered knowledge outside firms' boundaries. Article I examines this topic by focusing on value creation in B2B relationships through open innovation. Suppliers are found to be increasingly involved in their customers' business, accentuating the role and value of long-lasting relationships (Windahl & Lakemond, 2010). The article examines the nuclear power industry, and its three key suppliers of mechanical engineering and manufacturing. The text provides information about how to increase external actors' (i.e., suppliers') willingness to share their ideas with a buying firm and, hence, to contribute to the firm's innovation process. This article serves as the basis for the whole thesis by exploring ways to gain access to distributed knowledge across the firm's boundaries. In essence, the goal was to understand how value can be created in relationships. This thesis raises and highlights the importance of efficient utilization of external knowledge to the firm's success. Although the research is based on empirical data from the nuclear power industry, it has similarities with the forest industry. Both are process-oriented, require heavy investments (e.g., plants, machines, equipment) and are dependent on various suppliers. Involving suppliers in the innovation process is not yet recognized in the forest research context; thus, exploring the phenomena in an adjacent industry is beneficial.

Articles II and III examine customer orientation in the framework of the wood products industry from two different viewpoints. Article II provides new knowledge about customer orientation and customer value creation from the perspective of sawmills' B2B customers. Article III examines how digitalization, today's major technological innovation, can be leveraged to improve customer orientation and customer value creation and, hence, help firms differentiate themselves from rivals. Digitalization provides access to customer data and allows management of complex customer interactions (Lerch & Gotsch, 2015; Matt et al., 2015). In this way, digitalization supports firms in identifying, assessing and addressing specific customer needs and creating innovations based on them.

Contemporary literature recognizes service-centered business logic is increasingly important to meet complex customer needs. This thesis takes the service marketing view, and more specifically the service logic (SL) approach, to examine customer orientation and customer value creation. This approach was chosen because it is useful when seeking both theoretical insights and managerial guidance for the development of service-based business (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014). Moreover, SL provides interesting avenues for examining business transformations from product-oriented to service-based business, the phenomenon underway in the wood products industry.

As suggested by Eisenhardt (1989) and Yin (2014), exploratory research is recommended when the topic is new with little related knowledge. Customer orientation and innovation have been extensively studied, but significant gaps in the understanding of these phenomena remain, especially when considering specific industry sectors, such as wood products. Moreover, digitalization is a new and growing topic in several research disciplines, yet empirical research in this area is scarce and lacks a strategic perspective (Montague et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2017). In forestry business research, the resource-based view (RBV) has been typically used as the conceptual framework. However, researchers have argued that the RBV has reached maturity as a theory (Barney et al. 2011). Significantly less is known about the potential of business logic focusing on customer value and service. Theories like service logic (SL) have only rarely been used for the study of renewal in the wood products industry. On these grounds, exploratory research was considered appropriate for this thesis.

More specifically, the thesis applies qualitative research, employing case studies and interview methodology. Although qualitative research has limitations concerning statistical generalizability, its strengths are apparent when the purpose is to understand a context and meaning of a subject (Maxwell, 1996), as well as the evolution and changes over time (Gephart, 2004). Case study is a popular exploratory research strategy when there is a need to explore phenomena in depth and little is known about the phenomena (Eisenhardt 1989; Yin 2014). According to Halinen and Törnroos (2005, p. 1286), the case study is an empirical research approach that "allow[s] the study of contemporary phenomenon, which is difficult to separate from its context, but necessary to study within it to understand the dynamics involved in settings." This approach provides several advantages, such as flexibility, richness and possibility to locate meanings in natural settings (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Despite criticism regarding generalizations of case study observations (Yin, 2014), learning from case studies is a strength if they are conducted with care (Dubois & Gadde, 2002). This includes strong reliance on theory (Easton, 1995) and researcher objectivity (Yin, 2014). How these conditions are pursued in this study is described in the contexts of data collection and analysis. Interviews, in turn, are a highly efficient empirical data gathering method (Eisenhardt & Graebner, 2007). Interviewing is a widely used research method in social and organizational research, as it allows insights into people's experiences, attitudes and perceptions (Yin, 2014).

Figure 2 presents an overview of the methods and data used in the individual studies (described in the articles). The study described in Article I relied on an embedded case study design, which allowed a thorough examination of the research problem, collection of comprehensive data and extensive analysis. This method should be selected when a single case involves different embedded units (Yin 2014), as in the first study. However, a common pitfall of an embedded case study design is subunits gaining too much attention, ignoring a holistic view of the case (Yin 2014). The studies described in Articles II and III were based on semi-structured interviews, part of which were carried out face-to-face and part via telephone. The sampling technique in the first study was purposive, while the other two studies followed snowball sampling.

Article I: Open innovation	Article II: Customer orientation	Article III: Digitalization
 Method: Qualitative, embedded case study, purposive sampling technique 	 Method: Qualitative, interview, snowball sampling technique 	• Method: Qualitative, interview, snowball sampling technique
Data: Face-to-face semi- structured interview (N=18)	 Data: Semi-structured interview, face-to-face (N= 17), telephone (N=1) 	 Data: Semi-structured interview, face-to-face (N= 17), telephone (N=1)

Figure 2. Summary of data collection and methods

3.3. Data collection

The data for this thesis were collected from 2014 to 2016 in two research projects funded by the Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation, Tekes. The projects were "Supplier Innovation Management" (Article I) and "Value added by optimal wood raw material allocation and processing" (http://www.varma-eu.com/) (Articles II and III). The data consist of, in total, 36 semi-structured interviews conducted in Finland. The number of interviewees in the first study was 18. The second and third studies used the same interview material (just from different angles) and the number of interviewees was also 18. The majority of interviews were carried out face-to-face; only one interview was conducted via telephone. The semistructured form of interviewing was chosen as it allows respondents to freely voice their opinions. Both face-to-face and telephone interviews are generally considered acceptable methods for data gathering (Aday & Cornelius, 2006), but the former enables the collection of more in-depth data based on deeper interaction. The attempts to reduce the interview bias included avoiding signals of approval or disapproval during the interview and avoiding affecting the interviewee's responses by any means (cf. Kreuter, 2008). Two researchers were present in the majority of the interviews. By incorporating two interviewers, potential sources of error caused by the interviewing method were diminished in two ways. First, this practice enabled one interviewer to focus on the questions while the other interviewer took notes. Second, the second interviewer was able to ask specifying questions during the interviews to gain a better understanding of the subject matter.

3.4. Case selection and data collection in the case study

The case selection in the first study (Article I) was affected by its uniqueness as a strongly innovation-oriented buying firm that has extensive experience in collaborating with a large number of suppliers in various development projects. The selection criteria for the buying company in the first article were operating in a manufacturing industry with a great importance on innovations, reliance on external resources for innovation, and a demanding operating environment that includes high technological requirements. This context was expected to provide strong grounds for studying supplier innovation in a highly demanding environment and to enable the acquisition of new theoretical insights into the factors that motivate suppliers to contribute to the buyer's innovation process. Moreover, these contextual characteristics were assumed to challenge the conditions for innovation because complex projects conceivably add uncertainty and risk that may impair the supplier's intention to take part in the buyer's innovation process.

We selected a firm that met these criteria, and the manager expressed a willingness to participate in the study. The buyer company was Posiva, which was founded with the aim to plan and build a final nuclear waste disposal facility in Finland. Posiva relies heavily on its suppliers to deliver highly specific innovative solutions. Hence, they do not innovate per se, but they provide specifications and requirements to the suppliers, after which Posiva manages the development projects. As a result, Posiva only has a limited amount of internal R&D, making it reliant on external knowledge. Posiva agreed to be identified in the study. However, as the individual customer relationships are confidential, the names of suppliers were not mentioned.

The embedded case study was based on dyadic data collection of three buyer-supplier relationships between the focal case company and its three key suppliers (see Figure 3). The second step was to select the suppliers. The key informants in embedded cases were selected by using a purposive sampling technique (i.e., identifying key, and hence knowledgeable, people in each business relationship). Data was gathered from both ends of the relationship to gain a valid assessment (John & Reve, 1982; Wilson, 1996). The suppliers were selected according to their collaboration history and strategic importance to Posiva. To increase the external validity of the findings, suppliers from different industries (i.e., categories) were selected. They were small mechanical engineering and manufacturing firms with annual turnovers between four and six million euro. The purpose was to involve additional suppliers later, if necessary. However, the limit to manage amount of data from three dyads was soon reached.

The third step was to select the interviewees, who were identified by the buying company. The suppliers also nominated additional people to participate in the study. The suppliers' informants were the Business Unit Manager, Project Manager, Engineering Manager, Sales Manager, Technical Manager and Product Development Engineer. Within each dyad, both the buyer and suppliers' perspectives in the dyadic relationship were considered by interviewing individuals working in the buyer-supplier interface. The interview protocols consisted of four main thematic blocks: (1) the background of the interviewee and the collaboration history, (2) experiences from the collaboration (satisfaction, trust, attractiveness, flexibility, collaboration practices, industry specific demands and effects), (3) future visions for collaboration (goal of collaboration, commitment) and (4) contributions to supplier innovation (information sharing, communication, learning, involvement in product development, development needs to enhance supplier innovations). The purpose of Sections 2 through 4 was to collect interviewee perceptions of the mechanisms and processes that were expected to affect open innovation, based on previous literature. Section 2 provided insight into the current attraction and satisfaction, Section 3 gathered information on future prospects and Section 4 garnered insights into ways to improve project and knowledge management processes to enhance supplier innovation. As the dyad perspective was emphasized, the main topics in the buyer and supplier questionnaire were similar. The interviews were conducted from August 2014 through September 2015.



Figure 3. The three embedded cases in Article I

3.5. Sampling and data collection in the interview studies

The focus of the second and third studies (reported in Articles II and III) was the sawmill industry. However, because integrating supplier and customer processes is an essential part of customer value creation (Holbrook, 2006; La Rocca et al., 2014), the value chain (wood supply, sawmills, secondary wood processors, and industrial end-customers) perspective was chosen to gain a systematic and in-depth understanding of the prevailing state of sawmills' business logic and its possibilities to benefit from customer orientation and digitalization. Moreover, the interest was in the sawmills and their customers, but it was to interview the wood supply, too, as it has notable impact on the whole value chain's profitability.

The population of interest was criterion-based: top executives or experts in wood value chains. Thus, a purposive sampling technique was used to reach the target population (Patton, 2002). This strategy is suitable for small-scale and in-depth studies (Ritchie et al., 2003). The criteria to ensure that the most knowledgeable people were incorporated (Guarte & Barrios, 2006) were as follows: (1) the respondents had to represent upper management (top executives or experts in the wood products industry), (2) the respondents of the firms were regarded as innovators or as representatives of growth-oriented firms, (3) firms of different sizes were incorporated to ensure diversity among the informants and (4) these firms also represented different downstream processed products and industrial end-uses. To be in line with the articles' research interests, the scope was restricted to B2B relationships. As the respondents were expected to be innovators or represent growth-oriented firms, it was assumed they would be the most knowledgeable people regarding customer orientation and digitalization within the industry.

The identification of interviewees was pursued via a subtype of purposive sampling: snowball sampling (cf. Patton, 2002). This sampling technique diminishes the risk of researchers' misjudgment in the sample selection and supports the involvement of the most knowledgeable people regarding the phenomenon of interest (Guarte & Barrios, 2006). A steering group was used as a starting point for collecting a list of suitable interviewees by asking for suggestions. The group consisted of six people in the positions of Sawmill Manager, Sawmill Development Manager, Chief Technology Advisor at the Finnish Funding

Agency for Innovation, Principal Scientist at VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd., Sawmill Industry Senior Advisor and Managing Director at the Federation of the Finnish Woodworking Industries. The interview portion of the research started with three interviews at industry associations to gain a better understanding of the business and to obtain recommendations for other interviewees. Asking for recommendations continued during the rest of the interviews. More precisely, the respondents were asked who they could recommend based on the criteria of the study.

Table 2 illustrates the study sample and includes the number of interviewees, the business type, the interviewee's position and the firm size. The sample consisted of 14 firms in Finland, being versatile in terms of interviewee positions and specialties. The versatility was intended to ensure that all key categories relevant to the subject matter were covered and that each category was as diverse as possible (Ritchie et al., 2003). This enabled us to capture a wide range of different perspectives to detect differences within, as well as between, categories (Ritchie et al., 2003), as the aim was to gain a broader understanding of the phenomena studied. This was significant to improve the reliability and validity of the study. The informants represented small-, medium- and large-sized supplier and customer firms in wood supply, sawmills and secondary wood processing, as well as the construction industry, the sawmills' main industrial end-customer segment. The industrial end-customers were manufacturers of prefabricated houses and apartment buildings specializing in wood buildings. The key informants worked in the wood products industry and were industry experts, CEOs, Development Managers, and other Vice President level executives. The number of informants was low in wood supply. However, all sawmills had wood supply integrated into their other businesses, which enabled discussion of the limitations and possibilities of wood supply in the sawmill interviews.

Sector	Sector's specialty	Position	Turnover, M €
Wood supply, (n = 2)	-	Business development manager	> 1000
		Development manager	
			> 1000
Sawmill, (n = 6)	-	CEO	16
		CEO	13
		Development manager	264
		SVP, Timber sales	> 1000
		Manager, Investments &	> 1000
		Technology	
		CEO (industry association)	-
Secondary processing	Planing of wood	CEO	1
(n = 6)	Wood components	CEO	1
	Glulam	CEO	5
	Windows, doors	Manager, operations and sales	135
		CEO (industry association)	-
		Specialist (industry association)	-
Industrial end-user	Prefabricated houses	CEO	9
(n = 4)	Prefabricated houses	CEO	12
	Prefabricated houses	CEO	21
	Building construction	CEO	25

Table 2. Summary of interviews in Articles II and III

The empirical data in the second and third studies (Articles II and III) was collected between September 2015 and September 2016. The data was collected during the same interviews by using two partially overlapping interview protocols. The following key thematic blocks were similar: the general overview of the business, sources of future competitiveness, customer orientation and customer value drivers. The rest of the themes were different. In the second study, the specific themes were development needs for customer orientation in the company's business and in the sawn timber value chain. In the third study, the specific themes concerned internal and external information needs and digitalization transforming the business.

The questions for wood supply, sawmills, further processing, and industrial endcustomers were modified according to the interviewed sector's position in the value chain. For example, in the second study, the focus in the sawmills' interview protocol was on sawmills' perceptions of their current customer orientation as well as on factors that were assumed to create value for their customers. In the sawmills' customers' interview protocol, the focus was on the customers' needs from their suppliers and how well the suppliers were able to fulfill those needs. In turn, the interview protocol for wood supply was differentiated from the two above-mentioned groups by focusing on wood procurement practices and the interviewees' views about how they could improve sawmills' customer orientation. In this way, a systematic and comprehensive understanding was achieved of the stakeholders' needs, firms' capability to meet those needs, and their interactions. Also, the purpose was to understand how wood supply could possibly limit or enhance the sawmills' customer orientation.

3.6. Data analysis

The interviews were recorded, transcribed and coded in all three studies. Also, field notes were taken during each interview and contained key comments and points made by the interviewer. In the first phase of the data analysis, the interview notes were grouped by dyad (Article 1) and a firm's position in the wood value chain (Articles II and III). This provided a basis for performing further analysis. All studies followed the approach of qualitative data analysis suggested by Miles and Huberman (1994), namely reducing data, displaying data, and drawing and verifying conclusions. As the authors remark, data reduction occurs throughout the analysis.

Next in all three studies, the interview transcripts were read through several times by two researchers; afterward, the key phrases and points were summarized. The purpose of summaries was to aid in detecting unique patterns of observations (Eisenhardt, 1989). Before further analysis, data reduction was conducted. In this process, data was categorized according to the individual studies' research goals. The first study (Article I) provided three units that were analyzed according to the following research question: how does one increase a supplier's willingness to share its ideas and contribute to the buyer's innovation process? In the first study, the data was organized according to the key factors affecting open innovation or supplier innovation. The classification was based on previous literature (Mayer et al., 1995; Gianiodis et al., 2010; Paasi et al., 2010; Colombo et al., 2011; Klioutch et al., 2011; Uyarra et al., 2014; Wagner & Bode, 2014) and included three main classes: social aspects, knowledge management, and practices and shared vision. The results were verified in steering group meetings and discussions with the participating firms.

The data in the second study (Article II) were analyzed according to the two research questions: (1) what are the needs of sawmills' B2B customers as defined by customers themselves, and how do these needs differ from the way in which sawmills see them, and (2) how could the business of sawmills be developed based on the direct (further processor) and indirect (industrial end-customers) customers' needs? The data in the third study (Article III) were analyzed from the following research questions' perspectives: (1) how could the utilization of digitalization improve customer-orientation and firms' competitive advantage within the wood value chains as defined by the industry stakeholders themselves, and (2) how should businesses be developed? In both the second and the third studies, the industry was divided into three sectors in the analysis phase: sawmills, secondary wood processors and industrial end-customers. Secondary wood processors refer to manufacturers of wood components, glulam, windows and doors and planed timber. Industrial end customers, in turn, refer to construction firms of prefabricated houses and apartment buildings, specializing in wood buildings. This was important because as the downstream value chain actors (e.g., building wood, carpentry) are closer to the end customers, they may have better knowledge of the end customers' needs. Therefore, this categorization helped clarify the actors' positions and roles within the wood products industry, as well as allowing for a comprehensive understanding of the factors that possibly impact the competitiveness of that industry. The interviews from the industry associations represented the sawmill industry (one interview) and secondary wood processing (two interviews). In the data analysis, these interviews were included in the sawmills group and the secondary wood processing group, respectively.

Thereafter, the data was categorized in the second and third studies as follows. In the second study, the data was categorized into three value driver classes (core offering, sourcing process, customer operations), using the construct suggested by Ulaga and Eggert (2006). This classification is particularly suitable when studying relationship value in a manufacturing context and when the perceived value occurs in value-in-use. In the classification, the relationship value is divided into two dimensions (benefits and costs). Only the benefit dimension was incorporated in the analysis because it contains larger potential for firm success relative to costs (Eisenhardt, 1989). In the third study, the data were categorized into three potential levels of digitalization, impacting the business and corporate ways of working: internal efficiency, external opportunities and disruptive change. This categorization was suggested by Parviainen et al. (2017), and it is particularly suitable when studying relationship value and the perceived value-in-use in a manufacturing context. Internal efficiency relates to process efficiency by renewing internal processes through digital means (e.g., improved quality and consistency, a real-time view on operations, and data integration from internal and external sources). External opportunities refer to new ways of doing business and to the emergence of new business opportunities in existing business domains (e.g., new customers, new services or advanced offerings to customers, and improved response time). Disruptive changes transform business roles completely (e.g., the termination of old business and the emergence of new business). The conclusions drawn from the data analysis were verified by the project steering groups and in discussions with industry experts.

4. SUMMARIES OF THE RESULTS

4.1. Article I: Stimulating supplier innovation in a complex and regulated business environment – a dyadic case study

Article 1 (Makkonen et al., 2017) includes the results of the first study of this thesis. The article analyzes ways to foster innovation, and customer value, by gaining access to specific external knowledge source of a firm: the knowledge owned by suppliers. This is referred to as supplier innovation. The study is based on recognition that suppliers are critical sources of innovation (Klioutch et al., 2011; Lager et al., 2015; Pulles et al., 2015; Schiele, Veldman, & Huttinger, 2011), implying the usefulness of an interactive process through which the relationship value is created. Although previous studies identified several success or restraining factors of supplier innovation, much of this research has focused on the buyer's viewpoint. It has assessed mechanisms for "pulling" innovations from a supplier and, hence, presumed that the buyer actively participates in the supplier's innovation process (Wagner & Bode, 2014). However, the phenomenon from the supplier's viewpoint has not been examined (Schiele et al., 2012; Smals & Smits, 2012).

The focus of this study was on the factors that may increase suppliers' willingness to contribute to the buyer's innovation process. The conceptual basis of the study was in open innovation literature, more precisely in its broad interpretation. This interpretation does not only focus narrowly on trading intellectual assets, but more broadly focuses on two-directional information flows between the buyer and the supplier. These information flows aim at gaining access to tacit knowledge and achieving competitive advantage. The distinction between narrow and broad interpretations of open innovation corresponds to the distinction between innovations created by and with suppliers (Gallouj, 2002) The data were collected from industry experts in mechanical engineering and manufacturing in three buyer-supplier relationships. This was the largest possible amount of dyads within the project budget and the timetable. Although the study was not conducted in the forestry context, it supports the thesis by analyzing efficient utilization of knowledge in a neighboring sector.

The study contributes to the understanding of success factors of open innovation in B2B relationships. The decisive factors for engaging suppliers in the buyer's innovation process are not necessarily monetary (e.g., sales growth and access to new future markets); they can also be non-monetary (e.g., gaining experience). The empirical findings highlighted that customer attractiveness, namely perceived value from the relationship and the ability to build one's own knowledge-base, affects the supplier's willingness to invest in collaboration. If this attractiveness existed, the suppliers were committed to collaboration despite challenges in the buyer's knowledge management methods, collaboration practices or trust.

In addition to attractiveness, several other factors were identified that increased the supplier's willingness to contribute to their buyer's innovation process. A proper balance between project control and freedom to innovate was seen as decisive. However, the more complex the task, the more the buyer was expected to provide clear guidelines during the project for the suppliers. This indicates an importance of trust in cooperative relationships. Trust is important as it is one of the key success factors in collaboration and it is a basis for open innovation (Paasi et al., 2010). For example, trust enhances information sharing, aligned goals and visions. Particularly, the buyer's trust in the supplier's abilities (skills and competencies) seemed critical to stimulate suppliers to innovate. One of the key requirements in this context was that the buyer has sufficient practical knowledge of the subject area.

This study confirms earlier views about the criticality of information transfer. The findings enable a fluent progress of the innovation project and support organizational learning, but only if the firm has an ability to utilize external knowledge (Rosell, 2014). To foster two-way information transfer, organization-wide positive attitudes toward external knowledge and its sharing are necessary (Nitzsche et al., 2016; Rosell, 2014), in addition to trust. As the motivations for collaboration may not always be reciprocal, both the buyer and the supplier need to understand why the cooperation is taking place and what advantages are expected. Then, they should make efforts to commit to a common goal.

4.2. Article II: Customer value creation in B2B relationships: Sawn timber value chain perspective

The second study, reported in Article II (Makkonen & Sundqvist-Andberg, 2017), examines customer orientation, value creation and supplier-customer perceptions on customer needs in the sawn timber value chain. The motivation for the study was to better understand the customers' needs in order to develop service-based businesses in the sawmill industry. The findings are based on the views of different stakeholders in the value chain: wood supply, sawmills, secondary wood processing and construction industry. Involving informants throughout the value chain enabled a systematic and in-depth understanding of the prevailing state of sawmills' business logic and customer needs. Therefore, not only sawmills benefit from the results; wood supply and secondary wood processing also benefit.

The study resulted in three main findings. First, sawmills have an untapped potential to improve customer satisfaction. According to results, the majority of sawmills recognized the importance of customer orientation for the firm's success. Measures to address customer satisfaction focused on improved material offerings (e.g., product quality, delivery and price) or value-added services (e.g., product customization, painting and wood impregnation). The sawmills believed that their current total offering (products and services) corresponded relatively well to their customers' needs. In regard to the core offering, this supposition also seemed valid among the customers and stakeholders. However, the customers claimed that sawmills, especially larger ones, failed to notice that customers' needs are manifold and extend beyond products and processing (including sourcing processes and customer operations). Smaller sawmills were seen to operate in a more customer-oriented manner by ensuring flexibility in the form of product customization and delivery. Overall, the other value chain actors perceived the sawmill industry as traditional and reluctant to change. Customer expectations of the suppliers increased along the sawn timber value chain. The industrial customers, being closer to the end-use, emphasized not only high-quality products but also interaction, collaboration and service attitude. They understood that value should not be seen as delivered but co-created during supplier-customer interactions, which is in line with the service logic. The ways to unleash this untapped potential are explained next.

Second, *the results enable the creation of a customer value matrix*. This matrix ranks development needs in the sawn timber value chain by grouping the key findings into four categories: untapped potential, match, mismatch and threat (Figure 4). The untapped potential describes a situation in which the suppliers' (sawmills' and secondary processors') understanding of their customer needs is limited or the created value is embedded or emerges in customers' processes, making it invisible for the provider company. However, customers considered that suppliers have the ability to create value, such as sawmills' profound technical expertise on wood or sawn timber. In the categories of match and mismatch,

suppliers were able to identify true customer needs. For example, suppliers believed reliability of delivery and product quality create value for customers. The customers confirmed this view, but they specified that the suppliers were successful in delivering needed quality in single cases and in a fragmented manner. The study revealed that even though suppliers emphasized high overall and consistent product quality, the customers might be rather unsatisfied with the actual sawn timber quality. This is an example of a mismatch category, where the suppliers are not able to either realize or communicate value to the customers. In the category of threat, the suppliers did not understand their customers' needs, and therefore, these needs were neglected. Sawmills' willingness to collaborate is an example of such a situation. This relates closely to another key aspect regarding threat and the mismatch situation: expected and perceived service attitude. While secondary processing firms recognized the importance of service attitude as a source of value, their ability to create relationship value was limited. The worst case was sawmills that neither identified the importance of a strong service attitude nor were able to create this kind of value. In this study, service attitude means genuine interest in the customer's business, collaborative attitude and close interaction.

Third, the study indicated that wood suppliers' motivation to meet and even exceed sawnills expectations could be improved if the sawnills could make better use of high quality raw material. The profitability of the wood value chain is largely affected by the wood suppliers' ability to fulfil sawnills' requirements regarding timber quality, dimensions and length, and delivery times. According to the wood suppliers, the sawnills seem to lack the ability to benefit from improved raw material, which may decrease wood suppliers' motivation to improve quality and meet customers' expectations. The wood suppliers presumed that the situation will change, as they foresaw their customers demanding more specified wood characteristics, resulting in a need for ordering single logs. Current cutting orders at harvesters include target distributions for logs' lengths and diameters. As it is, current technical capabilities should be developed to detect a stem's internal quality before cut-to-length decisions. Some research relating to non-invasive scanning of tree stems (i.e., X-ray measurements) and optimal bucking has been carried out (Kivinen, 2004; Nordmark, 2005; Song & Usenius, 2007; Rummukainen, 2017). Practical applications could be available relatively quickly if the necessary investments are found to be viable.



Figure 4. Customer value matrix showing the potential to improve customer orientation in sawn timber value chain (Makkonen & Sundqvist-Andberg, 2017)

4.3. Article III: Stakeholder perspectives on the business potential of digitalization in the sawn timber value chain

The third study, described in Article III (Makkonen, 2018), builds a bridge between the two previous studies by addressing operational effectiveness to improve customer orientation and innovation, thus finding ways to improve the wood product industry's long-term competitiveness. The study interlinks two perspectives on value creation that disrupt prevailing business models in traditional manufacturing industries, namely service logic and digitalization. The starting points of the study were the views highlighting the firm's ability to generate new knowledge through constant learning (Tseng, 2016) and to exploit knowledge to create superior customer value (Woodruff, 1997) as the key constituents of profitability. Digitalization is at the core of these endeavors, enabling the analysis of vast amounts of data, interlinking actors throughout the value chain and creating a fundamental change in current business operations (Parviainen et al., 2017).

The study includes three contributions. First, the research *introduces digitalization as a powerful tool to foster the development of customer-oriented business in the wood value chains*. Many interviewees recognized that customer demands are increasingly complex, and the industry should prepare to respond them in a new way. Some actions had been taken to more effectively exploit information and digital technologies. For example, collaboration practices and information transfer were developed to optimize raw material utilization. Research and development projects were launched to improve transportation efficiency and to gain more precise forest inventory data. Wood suppliers were one of the most advanced sectors pursuing these goals. This is not surprising, as the forest industry has traditionally invested in developing wood procurement operations with efficient information exploitation. The views of the sawmill industry were more unexpected. They presented advanced ideas on the utilization of information to completely renew business models. For example, the creation

of "a hub," integrating demand information and optimizing deliveries in a business network, virtual "forest tours" or a real-time integration of customers into the manufacturer's production process would break existing business models.

Second, the wood products industry views digitalization positively or considers it necessary. However, to gain full benefit from digitalization, the industry must expand its potential beyond operational efficiency. The respondents underlined the need for change and highlighted that one's success in the wood value chain impacts the overall success of the industry. The term "digitalization" was understood in different ways. While some respondents perceived it to mean a change of currently existing processes into a digital format, and consequently into a more efficient transfer of data, others expressed more comprehensive and profound views about its potential, including a new way of thinking about business models. In all examined sub-sectors, most of the future actions seemed to target cost competitiveness (e.g., monitoring costs, improving the pricing of wood raw materials, resource optimization, improved process efficiency, transportation efficiency, warehouse monitoring and faster reaction times), leaving remarkable potential to differentiate from rivals through data analysis and novel business models. Ways to completely transform the business roles were presented significantly less frequently and only by wood suppliers (e.g., virtual forest tours) and sawmills (e.g., removal of unnecessary intermediaries).

Third, the information needs in the wood value chains are manifold, emphasizing the importance of cooperation. The information needs of wood suppliers, sawmills and secondary wood processors were related to the downstream value chain to improve their process predictability. Often the need was seen as a one-way flow of information without considering how they could help the other actors within the chain succeed. The industrial end-customers were the only sector emphasizing the importance of two-directional information transfer within the value chain. This two-directional information transfer was anticipated to have two primary effects on business. First, operational efficiency would increase, and second, customer satisfaction could be improved via faster deliveries. For example, the customer could benefit from knowing about suppliers' delivery capacities. In turn, the customer could help their suppliers succeed by providing timely information about demand. These new activities would emphasize the need for collaboration within the wood value chains, a development that was also acknowledged by many other interviewees. The expected benefits were improved internal efficiency and improved profitability in the whole wood value chain. However, many respondents noted that traditional attitudes and unwillingness to change are major challenges when a business is transformed. Currently, the independent working method was seen to cause chain inflexibility.

5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis, a broad scope of literature on customer orientation, service logic, digitalization and open innovation was used to inform forestry business research. This thesis contributes to wood products marketing and strategy literature by examining the potential benefits of open innovation (Article 1), customer orientation (Article 2) and digitalization (Article 3) to improve the sawmill industry's long-term competitiveness. Moreover, the development needs to improve customer orientation within the industry were the focus of this thesis. An interaction with customers and suppliers and the following customer value creation were examined through the lens of SL. Forestry-related business studies, such value-based approaches, have been previously examined in a B2C context, but not in B2B relationships. The motivation for this thesis was the observation that while service-based business practices have attracted attention from academics and business professionals in many disciplines and sectors, they have not gained popularity in the business models of the sawmill industry, nor have they focused on individual services or on the use value. There seems to be a particular lack of understanding about the potential of service (customer value) in business, or the way in which firms can support customers' value creation through integrating with customers.

This thesis suggests that by positioning customers at the core of the business, and applying service-based business practices, sawmills are in better position to achieve SCA. In summary, the sawmill industry's business strategy is product driven and firms are under price competition. This strategy may result in positive financial outcomes if demand is high, customers' demands are simple or competition is low (Hansen et al, 2011), or if a firm has gained a permanent technical advantage or its costs are permanently lower than its competitors (Grönroos, 2007). These are not likely trends. Thus, the sawmill industry should seek new ways to deliver customer value, or customer orientation. Although products, services and operative efficiency are important, their role as a part of a larger entity, or service, is different. The most important aspect of a business transformation is to understand the difference between product and service-based businesses. In the former, customer value is transmitted through a product that is assumed to meet a customer's needs. In the latter, customer value is embedded in relationships, not only between the firm and the customer, but also between the customer and other connected relationships.

The business transformation necessitates significant strategic changes: questioning existing practices and principles of the industry. This transformation begins with building organizational structures and management practices that integrate with customers and other stakeholders and center on customers' needs. Sawmills do not operate in isolation from their surrounding business environment. As much as their actions affect other value chain actors' profitability, the other actors' actions affect the sawmills' profitability. To facilitate superior customer value creation, collaboration throughout the sawn timber value chain is needed. To optimize these chains, information sharing is key. Access to the information necessitates confidential relationships (Handfield & Bechtel, 2002). The information by itself is not useful, but the firm must have the capability to manage this information to turn it into knowledge and then into action (Day, 2000). Digitalization binds these endeavors by enabling the analysis of vast amounts of data and interlinking actors throughout the value chain. Instead of studying merely sawmills, this thesis takes a stance to the entire wood products industry, suggesting that customer orientation should be an organizational strategic approach throughout the value chain. Next, the theoretical contribution and managerial implications of the results are discussed, followed by limitations and suggestions for further research.

5.1. Theoretical implications

This thesis has following theoretical implications. *The study contributes to better understanding about the wood products industry's current strategic orientation*. Previous research suggests that market or customer orientation prevails within the industry (Cohen et al., 2001; Hansen et al., 2005, 2011). However, many scholars have pointed out that the forest industry is still strongly production-oriented (e.g., Brege et al., 2010; Stendahl et al., 2013; Toppinen et al., 2013; Han & Hansen, 2017; Pelli et al., 2017). This thesis supports the latter view. The findings indicate that sawmills understand customer orientation as satisfying

customers' needs with an offering. Individual services seem add-ons to the core material offering, emphasizing a production-oriented strategy, not customer orientation. In an increasingly complex business environment, it is essential to understand that customer orientation and customer value creation covers many other aspects than traditional offering (i.e., meeting quality demands, delivery times and product customization). Moreover, the results suggested minor efforts to place customers at the core of the sawmills' business. This refers to measures that aim at continuously providing superior customer value, such as genuine interest in learning from the customers or a willingness to invest in customer relationships. While the core offering will remain important for the sawmill industry in the future, the business focus should be targeted toward genuine interest to solve the customer's problems and, most importantly, a collaborative attitude throughout the value chain. Compared to earlier research (e.g., Toppinen et al., 2011; Mattila et al., 2016), this study's findings are congruent and supplementary. In other words, comprehensive understanding of the overall picture and systematic ways to facilitate customer value creation are needed.

The thesis develops better understanding about the benefits of applying value-based business strategy and SL in the traditional wood products industry. Typically, RBV has been used in forestry business research as the conceptual framework. This view emphasizes a firm's role in the value creation process, where the firm determines its market structure. competition and performance by combining resources and competences in different ways (Mele & Della Core, 2013). Hence, external factors do not affect to the firm's success. To better understand value creation in relationships (i.e., provider-customer interaction) and a customer's role as a value creator, service-based business approaches should be applied. One of the benefits of this approach relates to improved interaction, not only between a provider and a customer, but also between the provider and its suppliers. As suggested by Payne et al. (2008), improved interaction throughout the supply chain is needed to uncover customers' latent and future needs. As the surrounding forest resources are a given, improved collaboration among sawmills, wood supply, further processors and other customers is vital. The results are also in line with the findings of Nurminen et al. (2009), who argued that new tools and collaboration are needed to better match the needs of the sawmills' customers with forest resources. Although the industry realizes that new approaches to value creation are needed to maintain and gain competitive advantage, existing attitudes and traditions seem to hinder the transformation. The novelty of applying SL in the forestry context is that customers are a premise for the entire business instead of being viewed as objects in a transaction. Compared to the prevailing, production-oriented business logic in the wood products industry, SL offers better premises for customer value creation and a firm's longterm competitiveness (Woodruff, 1997).

This thesis enhances understanding of the benefits of digitalization within the forest industry. In today's business world, profitability is primarily affected by a firm's ability to generate new knowledge through constant learning (Tseng, 2016) and to exploit knowledge to create superior customer value (Woodruff, 1997). Digitalization is at the core of these endeavors. With this perspective in the wood products industry context, the results suggest that digitalization is at the core of innovation in all three forms: product, process and business system innovation. By interlinking actors throughout the value chain and by enabling the analysis of vast amounts of data, a firm can adjust processes, products and services to develop new offerings and innovations (Gassmann & Zeschky, 2008). Because the needed skills and knowledge are seldom found inside a single firm's boundaries (Möller & Svahn, 2006), to benefit from digitalization, improved collaboration with other value chain partners is emphasized. This idea supports the earlier discussion that links strategic collaboration and a

firm's long-term competitiveness in the wood value chains (e.g., Mattila et al., 2016; Toppinen et al., 2011). Since trust among value chain partners is critical to foster collaboration (Handfield & Bechtel, 2002), changes throughout the entire organization's mind-set may be required. This requirement is consistent with Chesbrough (2010), who noted that to capture the highest possible value from technology-related innovations, the innovation process should not be restricted only to products, but rather it should affect the organization as a whole.

Although suppliers have been recognized as decisive sources for innovation, earlier literature largely neglects the supplier's viewpoint regarding the factors that motivate them to share their best knowledge with the buying company (Johnsen, 2009; Smals & Smits, 2012). This thesis empirically identified ways to increase suppliers' willingness to support the buyer's innovation process. As the results indicate, incentives for sharing knowledge can vary from monetary to non-monetary factors. Customer attractiveness (i.e., value from the relationship and access to knowledge) was found to be one of the key factors stimulating suppliers to share their knowledge. It is not surprising that information sharing was also highlighted in the results, as knowledge is an enabler of innovation (Chesbrough, 2003). However, remarkably, the suppliers were willing to compromise trust, which is regarded as the most important success factor for open innovation (e.g., Adler & Kwon, 2002; Handfield & Bechtel., 2002; van Echtelt et al., 2008; Paasi et al., 2010), if there was a possibility to improve their own organizational capabilities (e.g., build a knowledge-base, improve quality). This result may reflect a transformation toward a knowledge-based economy, centering on intellectual capital. Conversely, the result could be affected by a long-term economic downturn, so many firms' top priority may be to gain a market share.

Finally, *this thesis clarifies how digitalization can improve service-based business*. The literature regarding digitalization lacks a strategic approach in research (Montague et al., 2016; Nilsson et al., 2017). Service-based business logic, along with the emphasis for increased interaction, open new and intriguing avenues for research. According to SL, a firm only facilitates customer value creation by integrating monetary or non-monetary resources (e.g., knowledge, skills, raw materials, technology) into an offering (Grönroos, 2011; Grönroos & Ravald, 2011; Lindic & da Silva, 2011). However, if a firm's and a customer's processes are integrated as an interactive process, the firm becomes a co-creator of value (Grönroos et al., 2013). In addition to digitalization enabling streamlining processes and access to the vast amounts of data, it can be used for high degrees of interaction with value chain actors. For firms, this can mean at least two benefits. First, by increasing human-computer interaction, firms can gain opportunities for innovation (Nylen et al., 2015). Second, firms can become co-creators of value by engaging customers via digital processes. According to the results, "virtual forest tours" or a real-time integration of customers into the manufacturer's production process could be the first steps toward the value co-creation.

5.2. Managerial implications

For managers, this thesis provides four important implications. *The managers should reflect* on their business in relation to current and future customer needs. Mature and commodity-focused industries, such as the sawmill industry, typically seek profitability through production efficiency (Lähtinen et al., 2008). The changes in society and increasingly diversifying customer needs drives firms to seek competitiveness beyond improved product characteristics and product price (Vandenbosch & Dawar, 2002). Empirical evidence

increasingly demonstrates the importance of customer orientation to a firm's performance (e.g. Brady et al., 2001; Saura et al., 2005; Teece, 2010; Blocker, 2011; Hansen et al., 2015). The results imply that this importance is acknowledged by many sawmill managers as well. The customers' expectations of suppliers increase along the sawn timber value chain, and it is likely that this acts as an incentive to place customers at the core of the sawmills' business strategies. As customer-oriented business strategies can be implemented in many ways (Korhonen, 2016), it is important for firms to identify and activate those resources that provide advantages over peers. This study suggests that product-related value attributes, such as reliability of delivery and consistent quality, are important for the sawmills' customers. However, improvements only focusing on these aspects represent product-oriented strategy. The needs of the sawmills' customers are more manifold than sawmills assume, extending beyond product characteristics and process efficiency to intangible resources, such as supplier's expertise and knowledge, sales and service attitude, real-time integration with the customers' processes and willingness to collaborate. All these are factors have been thus far underutilized both by the sawmill industry and by the entire wood products industry, which supports the earlier views stating that customer demands have become more diversified and complex (e.g., Gustafsson, 2006; Han & Hansen, 2016). As customers and suppliers seem to show genuine interest, and need, in integrating with a provider, the starting point for developing service-based business is promising.

The managers need to understand the essence of customer orientation as a strategic approach to a firm's competitive advantage. This statement refers to a customer's role as a value creator. As mentioned in the theoretical implications, the sawmill industry is not customer-oriented, contrary to many sawmill managers' perceptions. The industry lacks measures to understand customers' needs and to continuously provide superior value to the customers (Narver et al., 1990). The other value chain actors view the industry as traditional and reluctant to change. The results imply that sawmills perceive individual services (material and immaterial) as customer orientation; however, this view indicates servitization (Oliva et al., 2003; Neely, 2008; Wilkinson et al., 2009) and production-oriented strategy, (i.e., goods-dominant logic [GDL]). In GDL, a firm's role is to provide an offering that best fits the customer's processes, and afterward, it is a customer's responsibility to make effective use of this given resource (Grönroos, 2011a). Customer-oriented business approaches take a different view, emphasizing customers' role as value creators. Customeroriented firms take a broader, supportive role in the customers' value creation process (Grönroos, 2008) by integrating and sharing their resources throughout business relationships (Grönroos, 2007). Thus, firms should start implementing customer-oriented business by learning from the customers and responding with goods and services that consistently offer customers superior value and greater satisfaction (Brady et al., 2001). It should be noted that a firm's practices and persons executing an interaction highly affects value creation (Guenzi et al., 2007). Furthermore, the customer's actions affect the benefit a firm gains. For example, the customer's lack of practical knowledge can "spoil" a good product or service.

To gain the full potential of customer-oriented business, collaboration with other value chain actors is needed. One of the main benefits relates to improved opportunities for innovation. Acknowledging the large innovation potential of external actors (Klioutch et al., 2011; Schiele et al., 2011; Lager et al., 2015; Pulles et al., 2015), firms using external resources in business have better conditions to cope with intense competition and to achieve SCA. Through interactions with customers, suppliers or other stakeholders, firms can gain access to both explicit and tacit knowledge. This access is valuable, as knowledge can be used to improve the firms' organizational knowledge-base and skills that are difficult or

costly for peers to imitate. In addition, improved collaboration impacts to entire wood value chain's profitability through better prerequisites to contribute to customer value creation. This was especially evident in wood supply. The results indicate that wood suppliers' motivation to improve quality and to exceed customers' expectations was lower because they believed the sawmills' were unable to benefit from their efforts (i.e., improved wood raw material quality). The wood supply has a notable impact on the whole value chain's profitability because a wood supplier's ability to fulfill a sawmill's requirements regarding timber quality, dimensions, length and delivery times is decisive. The lack of collaborative attitude between the value chain actors can result in significant loss of value creating potential. As the results demonstrate, the main challenge undermining the increased collaboration in wood value chains seems to relate to organizational attitudes and traditions. Therefore, the managers should understand the growth potential business through collaboration. Furthermore, the managers need to recognize possible associated problems, such as a loss of control (Alter & Hage, 1993) or high knowledge search costs (Laursen & Salter, 2006), that may arise through collaboration. The key factor for successful collaboration is trust among the actors (Handfield & Bechtel, 2002). Also, the managers need to pay attention to appropriate organizational structures and managerial practices (Colombo et al., 2011) affecting all levels of a firm (Gianiodis et al., 2010).

The managers need to understand that digitalization can be a disruptive force and it can offer significant options to gain competitive advantage. Digitalization provides massive business opportunities in streamlining operations, developing products and services that stand out from rivals and creating new business practices. By increasing interaction with customers and other stakeholders, digitalization is a powerful tool in improving customer experience and in differentiating a firm from its rivals in a way that contributes the SCA. The results of this study indicate that the managers should look at the possibilities of digitalization in business more broadly than they currently do. While the majority of the development ideas related to methods to apply digitalization, namely operational efficiency (i.e., reducing costs), this is only one, narrow area where digitalization can be useful. The wood products industry has plenty of untapped potential to satisfy increasingly versatile customer needs through digitalization. This potential relates to new ways to develop businesses and completely transform business roles. The advantages enabled by digitalization, such as gaining access to a wide range of knowledge sources, learning from customers, building networks, gaining access to wide markets and velocity, should not be ignored by any firm within the wood products industry. Furthermore, the firm's capability to implement digital transformation should not be ignored. A key to success is organizational capabilities (Bharadwaj et al., 2013), such as organizational learning (Tippins et al., 2003), leadership style (Seah et al., 2010; Verdú-Jover et al., 2014) and adaptive organizational culture (Alos-Simo et al., 2017). However, as Laursen et al. (2006) states, the cost of obtaining knowledge should not be too high. Moreover, technology should always be regarded as a tool used by a human being.

The transition from product-oriented business toward customer orientation should start with the organization's attitudes. Changes in the business environment (e.g., globalization, changing customer needs) have eroded the sources of competitiveness in traditional businesses that often rely on cost minimization. To improve competitiveness, researchers have suggested that manufacturers in developed economies should compete on the basis of value delivered instead of on the basis of cost (Porter & Ketels, 2003). More precisely, the value should be created in relationships (i.e., the customer-oriented view), not delivered by an offering (i.e., the traditional, manufacturing view). The sawmill industry is affected by numerous factors (e.g., environmental and social sustainability, demands for raw wood availability, logistics, lead times, uneven quality of the wood raw material) that impacts the customer relationships and business development within the industry (e.g., Carlsson & Rönnqvist, 1999; Arce et al. 2002; Panwar & Hansen 2009, Toivonen, 2011, Toppinen et al., 2013). Rather than viewing them as limiting factors, the industry should view these issues as opportunities for exploiting new technologies (e.g., digitalization) to improve interaction and co-learning within the wood supply chains. This shift in view would create greater efficiency. The first step in change toward a customer-oriented business (i.e., service-based business) is to embrace customer orientation as an organization-wide attitude: organizational values, norms, artifacts (e.g., stories, rituals) and behaviors (Homburg et al., 2000), including a firm's attitude toward new technologies and its ability to exploit them (Matt et al. 2015). By fostering an open attitude toward customer-focus, a firm can improve its relevance for its customers through relationship closeness (Primo & Amundson 2002), more efficient information transfer (Rosell, 2014; Nitzsche et al., 2016) and the ability to address customers' changing and emerging demands (Lenka et al., 2017).

5.3. Reliability and validity of results

Research designs are commonly judged according to following criteria: (1) reliability (i.e., repeatability of findings), (2) construct validity (i.e., valid measures selected to assess the phenomenon), (3) internal validity (i.e., detecting causal relationships with appropriate measures) and (4) external validity (i.e., generalizability of the results) (e.g., Yin, 2014). This thesis is based on descriptive or exploratory studies; thus, the focus is reliability, construct validity and external validity. Internal validity is not discussed because it is important only for explanatory (causal) research designs (Yin, 2014).

Research reliability can be improved by careful documentation throughout the research process (Eisenhardt et al., 2007). Yin (2014) proposes involving several researchers to evaluate the findings. This study's documentation relates to the chosen research methods, data collection and analysis described in Chapter 3 and, in more detail, in the individual articles. A case study database was created and maintained for all three dyads. In most of the interviews, two researchers were present taking their own notes. As the interviewees' knowledge about the phenomenon grew during the interviews, the aim was to decrease possible bias by relying strongly on the theory, as suggested by Easton (1995). Each interview session was recorded and transcribed to decrease respondent error (i.e., different interpretations of questions), observer error (i.e., different ways to conduct the research) and bias (i.e., failure to provide accurate answer) (Kathleen M. Eisenhardt et al., 2007). Those interviews with only one interviewer presen, were more vulnerable to the error and bias. To overcome this, the field notes and transcripts in the data analysis phase were analyzed by two researchers. Further, to improve reliability, the steps of qualitative data analysis suggested by Miles and Huberman (1994) (data reduction, data display, and drawing and verifying conclusions) were performed.

Construct validity is highly affected by a researcher's ability to objectively see the phenomena. This validity can be strengthened by using multiple evidence sources and asking external people to review the reports (Yin, 2014). In this thesis, various informants and data collection methods (recordings, notes, company documents and interviews) were used. Obtaining the interviewees' viewpoints followed the suggestions of Kreuter (2008): to prevent giving signals of approval or disapproval during the interview and to avoid affecting the interviewee's responses by any means. The researchers verified their views by comparing

their individual notes when checking the data. As advised by Yin (2014), the initial findings were reviewed with the case company during the analysis phase to detect unclear issues (in Article I). Also, the results were reported to the interviewees and an option for feedback was given. However, the results were kept in their original form, following the suggestion of Miles and Huberman (1994).

External validity, also called generalizability, refers to a process that uses particular data to draw conclusions that can be applied to other people, settings or time (Ferguson, 2004). Maxwell (1992) remarks that explicit claims about generalizability are seldom presented by qualitative researchers. However, this does not diminish an importance of qualitative research. The sample representativeness is critical for external validity (Morgan & Harmon, 1999), which is gained through data saturation. Statistically assessing the sample's interviewees was not feasible; thus, the purposive sampling technique was used. One of the main criteria was to interview people who were expected to be the most knowledgeable in their field. In Article I, three embedded cases were involved, instead of single case study, to improve external validity. The results were compared to the extant literature, during the data analysis, to differentiate the case-specific findings from the generalizable findings (Yin 2014). In Articles II and III, the sample varied in respect to interviewee positions and specialties. This variation was intended to ensure that all key categories relevant to the subject matter were covered and that each category was as diverse as possible (Ritchie et al., 2003). In Article I, data saturation was not achieved because it was not possible to examine additional cases due to the project budget and time restrictions. Articles II and III indicated data saturation despite a rather small number of interviews.

As Maxwell (1992) stated, it is impossible to observe everything in qualitative research. Therefore, it is crucial to understand what was not observed because of sampling or the observer. Generally, one of the greatest limitations of this study relates to its generalizability. In Article I, the buyer company represents only one sector, which is quite exceptional and infrastructure-oriented. Even if the results provide a body of knowledge on supplier innovation in complex environments, cross-sectoral studies should be conducted to assess the generalizability of the results. In Articles II and III, sawmilling is a heterogeneous branch of business, and hence, the results cannot be generalized to the industry level. Also, the number of interviews in each studied group (sawmills, further processing, industrial endcustomers) was rather small. The sample size was particularly small in wood supply, and the sample only represented large firms. This problem was slightly relieved by the fact that views on wood supply were also gained in the sawmill interviews. To diminish the potential bias resulting from this, snowball sampling was used. Nevertheless, by design, these studies' findings are not statistically generalizable (Kvale, 2007). They should be regarded as indicative, providing useful proposals for further studies and references for strategic planning for the actors in the sawn timber value chain.

5.4. Suggestions for further research

The findings of this thesis provide important preliminary observations and suggestions on customer orientation, digitalization and innovation in the wood products industry. In further studies, these findings should be tested with larger samples and in broader contexts. Interviews with professionals operating in pioneering industries, such as the technology industry (e.g., Amazon and Google) or automotive industry, could be one promising option to more profoundly evaluate the potential.

As the research by Håkansson and Snehota (1989) suggests, all stakeholders affect firm competitiveness and thereby should be considered in strategic decisions. This is especially important because many manufacturing firms operate as part of long and complex value chains (Niemelä et al., 1996), and firms no longer have all the diverse components of knowledge within their own organizations to be competitive in research, production and marketing (Bilbao-Osorio & Rodriguez-Pose, 2004). To facilitate higher customer value creation and to maximize overall profitability, firms should pursue a high degree of collaboration and improve relationship closeness with customers and other stakeholders (Primo & Amundson 2002). This thesis takes a first step in empirically studying the needs of sawmill customers. In the future studies, a more profound understanding of customers' needs and other stakeholders' views about how to satisfy these needs in collaboration with the wood value chain actors would be beneficial. Better understanding of customers' perspectives is vital because, as the results suggest, the providers' perceptions of customers' needs may not always correspond with reality. Consequently, firms may lose opportunities for innovation and greater customer satisfaction. Likewise, a better understanding of motivating factors (e.g., financial benefits), as well as possible associated problems (e.g., a loss of control, quality, financial and competitive position) (Alter & Hage, 1993), should be achieved to encourage discussion between the managers within the wood value chains and to provide support for decision making.

Further research should better understand the barriers hindering the adaptation of customer orientation. One of the major challenges seems to relate to sawmills' unwillingness to change prevailing traditional business strategies. Sawmills perceive themselves as relatively customer-oriented, but the customers' perception is completely the opposite. Customer orientation is, largely, about an organization-wide attitude (Grönroos & Gummerus, 2014), placing customers at the core of the business. Often, this means fundamentally new ways of doing business. The investments in the sawmill industry are large and the wood supply chains are long and complex. This may restrain willingness to change existing structures and practices. However, societal changes, such as sustainability, changing customer needs and emerging new technologies, do not ignore any industry. Therefore, better understanding about the reasons behind a strong desire to preserve the old operating models is important.

Also, methods to utilize digitalization for developing customer-oriented business requires more attention. Digitalization affects all industries, driven by customers' demands. The key requirements for successful digital transformation vary from organizational innovative attitudes and measures to financial aspects (Matt et al. 2015, Legner et al. 2017). The aim is to improve customer focus (Matt et al., 2015); thus, the topic should be at the core of business studies. To understand various aspects of the business potential of digitalization, future research should take an interdisciplinary approach, integrating several research areas, such as computer science, marketing and strategy, innovation, and behavioral sciences. Since the wood products industry has many ideas about improving firms' internal efficiency (processes), more attention should be given to new offerings (products and services) and to ways of doing business (e.g., business roles and ways of communication). A core issue is the application of the knowledge-based economy in the wood products industry. Subsequently, the other approaches emphasizing knowledge as a key resource to achieve organizational objectives, such as knowledge management, would provide interesting avenues for future research.

REFERENCES

- Adams, M. E., Day, G. S., & Dougherty, D. (1998). Enhancing new product development performance: an organizational learning perspective. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 15(5), 403–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-6782(98)00013-7v
- Aday, L. A., & Cornelius, L. J. (2006). Designing and conducting health surveys: A comprehensive guide, third edition. Jossey-Bass.
- Adler, P. S., & Kwon, S. (2002). Social capital: Prospects for a new concept. Academy of Management Review, 27(1), 17–40. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2002.5922314
- Agarwal, S., Erramilli, M. K., & Dev, C. S. (2003). Market orientation and performance in service firms: role of innovation. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 17(1), 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1108/08876040310461282
- Agarwal, A., Shankar, R., & Tiwari, M. K. (2007). Modeling agility of supply chain. Industrial Marketing Management, 36, 443–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.12.004
- Alos-Simo, L., Verdu-Jover, A. J., & Gomez-Gras, J.-M. (2017). How transformational leadership facilitates e-business adoption. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 117(2), 382–397. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-01-2016-0038
- Alter, C., & Hage, J. (1993). Organisations Working Together Englewood Cliffs. N.J: Prentice Hall.
- Amit, R., & Schoemaker, P. J. H. (1993). Strategic Assets and Organizational Rent. Strategic Management Journal, 14, 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250140105
- Ansoff, H. I. (1965). Corporate strategy : an analytic approach to business policy for growth and expansion. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Arce, J. E., Carnieri, C., & Sanquetta, C. R. (2002). A Forest-Level Bucking Optimization System that Considers Customer's Demand and Transportation Costs. Forest Science, 48(3), 492–503.
- Ardolino, M., Rapaccini, M., Saccani, N., Gaiardelli, P., & Ruggeri, C. (2018). The role of digital technologies for the service transformation of industrial companies. International Journal of Production Research, 56(6), 2116–2132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1324224
- Bahemia, H., & Squire, B. (2010). a Contingent Perspective of Open Innovation in New Product Development Projects. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 14(4), 603–627. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919610002799
- Baines, T., Lightfoot, H., Benedettini, O., & Kay, J. M. (2014). Servitization of the manufacturing firm: exploring the operations practices and technologies that deliver advanced services. *Int. J. Oper. Prod. Manag.*, 34, 2–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410380910960984
- Baraldi, E. (2009). User-related complexity dimensions of complex products and sustems (CoPS): A case of implementing an ERP system. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 13(01), 19–45. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919609002200
- Barney, J. (1986). Organizational Culture: Can It Be a Source of Sustained Competitive Advantage? *The Academy of Management Review*, 11(3), 656–665. https://doi.org/http://www.jstor.org/stable/258317
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage. Journal of Management, 17(1), 99–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700108

- Barney, J. B., Ketchen, D. J., Wright, M., & Barney, J. B. (2011). The Future of Resource-Based Theory: Revitalization or Decline? Journal of Management, 37, 1299–1315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310391805
- Baron, S., Warnaby, G., & Hunter-Jones, P. (2014). Service(s) marketing research: Developments and directions. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16(2), 150–171. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12014
- Barr, P. S., Stimpert, J. L., & Huff, A. S. (1992). Cognitive change, strategic action, and organizational renewal. *Strategic Management Journal*, 13(13), 15–36.
- Beier, G., Niehoff, S., Ziems, T., & Xue, B. (2017). Sustainability aspects of a digitalized industry – A comparative study from China and Germany. *International Journal of Precision Engineering and Manufacturing-Green Technology*, 4(2), 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40684-017-0028-8
- Bennett, R. & Cooper, R. (1979). Beyond the marketing concept. Business Horizons 22(3), 76-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0007-6813(79)90088-0
- Berman, S. (2012). Digital transformation: opportunities to create new business models. *Strategy & Leadership*, 40(2), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1108/10878571211209314
- Berthon, P., Mac Hulbert, J., & Pitt, L. (2004). Innovation or customer orientation? An empirical investigation. European Journal of Marketing, 38(9/10), 1065–1090. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090560410548870
- Bharadwaj, A., El Sawy, O., Pavlou, P., & Venkatraman, N. (2013). Digital Business strategy: Toward a next generation of insights. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(2), 471–482. https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2013/37:2.3
- Bhatt, G. D. (2001). Knowledge management in organizations: examining the interaction between technologies, techniques, and people. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 5(1), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673270110384419
- Bilbao-Osorio, B., & Rodriguez-Pose, A. (2004). From R & D to Innovation and Economic Growth in the EU. *Growth and Change*, 35(4), 434–455. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1468-2257.2004.00256.x
- Blocker, C. P. (2011). Modeling customer value perceptions in cross-cultural business markets. *Journal of Business Research*, 64(5), 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2010.05.001
- Blocker, C. P., Flint, D. J., Myers, M. B., & Slater, S. F. (2011). Proactive customer orientation and its role for creating customer value in global markets. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 39(2), 216–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-010-0202-9
- Brady, M. K., & Cronin, J. J. (2001). Customer Orientation: Effects on Customer Service Perceptions and Outcome Behaviors. *Journal of Service Research*, 3(February), 241– 251. https://doi.org/10.1177/109467050133005
- Brege, S., Nord, T., Sjöström, R., & Stehn, L. (2010). Value-added strategies and forward integration in the Swedish sawmill industry: positioning and profitability in the highvolume segment. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 25(5), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2010.496738
- Brockman, B. K., & Morgan, R. M. (2003). The role of existing knowledge in new product innovativeness and performance. *Decision Sciences*, 34(2), 385–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-5915.02326
- Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2012). Race against the machine: how the digital revolution is accelerating innovation, driving productivity, and irreversibly transforming employment and the economy. The MIT Center for Digital Business.

- Carlsson, D. & Rönnqvist, M. (1999). Wood flow problems in Swedish forestry. Skogforsk Report 1. Uppsala, Sweden, p. 49.
- Caves, R. (1980). Industrial Organization, Corporate Strategy and Structure. Journal of Economic Literature, 18(1), 64–92.
- Cavusgil, S. T., Calantone, R. J., & Zhao, Y. (2003). Tacit knowledge transfer and firm innovation capability. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *18*(1), 6–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858620310458615
- Chesbrough, H. (2003). Open innovation: The New imperative for Creating and Profiting from Technology. (M. H. B. S. P. Boston, Ed.), Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Chesbrough, H. W. (2006). Open Business Models: How to Thrive in the New Innovation Landscape. Cam- bridge, MA: Harvard Business School Publishing.
- Christensen, C. M., & Bower, J. L. (1996). Customer power, strategic investment, and the failure of leading firms. *Strategic Management Journal*, 17(3), 197–218. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199603)17:3<197::AID-SMJ804>3.0.CO;2-U
- Christensen, J. F., Olesen, M. H., & Kjær, J. S. (2005). The industrial dynamics of Open Innovation - Evidence from the transformation of consumer electronics. *Research Policy*, 34(10), 1533–1549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.002
- Cohen, D. H., & Kozak, R. A. (2001). Research and technology : Market-driven innovation in the twenty-first century. *The Forestry Chronicle*, 78(1), 108–111. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc78108-1
- Colombo, G., Dell'era, C., & Frattini, F. (2011). New Product Development (Npd) Service Suppliers in Open Innovation Practices:: Processes and Organization for Knowledge Exchange and Integration. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 15(1), 165–204. https://doi.org/10.1142/S136391961100312X
- Conner, K. (1991). A historical comparison of resource-based theory and five schools of thought within industrial organization economics: do we have a new theory of the firm? *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 121–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700109
- Corsaro, D., & Snehota, I. (2010). Searching for Relationship Value in Business Markets: Are We Missing Something? *Industrial Marketing Management*, 39(6), 986–995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2010.06.018
- Coyne, K. P. (1986). Sustainable competitive advantage—What it is, what it isn't. *Business Horizons*, 29(1), 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/0007-6813(86)90087-X
- Crespell, P., Knowles, C., & Hansen, E. (2006). Innovativeness in the North American softwood sawmilling industry. *Forest Science*, 52(5), 568–578.
- D'Amato, D., Droste, N., Allen, B., Kettunen, M., Lähtinen, K., Korhonen, J., Leskinen, P., Matthies, B. D. & Toppinen, A. (2017). Green, circular, bio economy: A comparative analysis of sustainability avenues. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 168, 716–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.053
- Daft, R. L. (1983). Organization theory and design. Organization Theory and Design. New York: West.
- Dant, R. P., & Brown, J. R. (2008). Bridging the B2C and B2B Research Divide : The Domain of Retailing Literature. Journal of Retailing, 84(4), 371–397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2008.09.005
- Das, T. K., & Teng, B. S. (1999). Cognitive biases and strategic decision processes: an integrative perspective*. Journal of Management Studies, 36(6), 757–778.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6486.00157

- Davenport, T., & Prusak, L. (1998). *Working knowledge*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Day, G. S. (2000). Managing market relationships. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070300281003
- De Brentani, U. (2001). Innovative versus incremental new business services: Different keys for achieving success. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, *18*(3), 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-6782(01)00071-6
- Deshpande, R., Farley, J. U., & Webster, F. E. (1993). Corporate Culture, Customer Orientation, and Innovativeness in Japanese Firms: A Quadrad Analysis. *Journal of Marketing*, 57(1), 23–37. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252055
- Drucker, P. F. (1954). *The practice of management*. New York, NY: Harper & Row. Retrieved from http://www.amazon.ca/exec/obidos/redirect?tag=citeulike09-20&path=ASIN/0887306136
- Dubois, A., & Gadde, L. E. (2002). Systematic combining: An abductive approach to case research. Journal of Business Research, 55(7), 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(00)00195-8
- Dyer, J. H., & Singh, H. (1998). The relational view: cooperative strategy and sources of interorganisational competitive advantage. *The Academy of Management Review*, 23(4), 660–679. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1998.1255632
- Easton, G. (1995). Case Research as a Methodology for Industrial Networks; A Realist Apologia. In *Proceedings from the 11th IMP Conference, Manchester. Manchester: Manchester Federal School of Business and Management*: 368–391.
- Edvardsson, B., Gustafsson, A., & Roos, I. (2005). Service portraits in service research: a critical review. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 16(1), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564230510587177
- Eggert, A., Ulaga, W., & Schultz, F. (2006). Value creation in the relationship life cycle: A quasi-longitudinal analysis. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 35(1), 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.07.003
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. Academy of Management Review, 14(4), 532–550. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4308385
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2007.24160888
- Ettlie, J. & Rubenstein, A. (1981). Stimulating the Flow of Innovations to the. *Technologigal Forecasting and Social Change*, 55(19), 33–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-1625(81)90048-2
- FAOSTAT. (2018). FAOSTAT-database. http://www.fao.org/statistics. (Cited 4/2018).
- Fedorowicz, J., & Konsynski, B. (1992). Organization Support Systems: Bridging Business and Decision Processes. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 8(4), 5–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1992.11517936
- Ferguson, L. (2004). External validity, generalizability, and knowledge utilization. Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 36(1), 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.2004.04006.x
- Flint, D. J., Woodruff, R. B., & Fisher Gardial, S. (2002). Exploring the Phenomenon of Customers' Desired Value Change in a Business-to-Business Context. *Journal of Marketing*, 66(October), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.66.4.102.18517
- Frambach, R. T., Fiss, P. C., & Ingenbleek, P. T. M. (2016). How important is customer

orientation for firm performance? A fuzzy set analysis of orientations, strategies, and environments. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(4), 1428–1436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.120

- Freeman, E. (1984). Strategic Management: a stakeholder approach. *Boston: Pitman, 46*, 276. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.263511
- Furrer, O., Thomas, H., & Goussevskaia, A. (2008). The structure and evolution of the strategic management field: A content analysis of 26 years of strategic management research. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 10(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2007.00217.x
- Gallouj, F. (2002). Knowledge -intensive business services: processing knowledge and producing innovation. Productivity, Innovation and Knowledge in Services. New Economic and Socio-Economic Approaches J. Gadrey & F. Gallouj, eds., Cheltenham and Northampton: Edward Elgar.
- Garcia, R., & Calantone, R. (2002). A critical look at technological innovation typology and innovativeness terminology: A literature review. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 19(2), 110–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-6782(01)00132-1
- Gassmann, O., Enkel, E., & Chesbrough, H. (2010). The future of open innovation. *R&D Management*, 40(3), 213–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9310.2010.00605.x
- Gassmann, O., & Zeschky, M. (2008). Opening up the solution space: The role of analogical thinking for breakthrough product innovation. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 17(2), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8691.2008.00475.x
- Gatignon, H., & Xuereb, J.-M. (1997). Strategic Orientation of the Firm and New Product Performance. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 34(1), 77–90. https://doi.org/10.2307/3152066
- Gebauer, H., Fleisch, E., & Friedli, T. (2005). Overcoming the service paradox in manufacturing companies. *European Management Journal*, 23(1), 14–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2004.12.006
- Gephart, R. P. (2004). Qualitative research and the Academy of Management Journal. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47(4), 454–462. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2004.14438580
- Gianiodis, P. T., Ellis, S. C., & Secchi, E. (2010). Advancing a typology of open innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 14(4), 531–572. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919610002775
- Grant, R. M. (1991). The Resource-Based Theory of Competitive Advantage: Implications for Strategy Formulation. *California Management Review*, 33(3), 114–135. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166664
- Grönroos, C. (1979). Service Marketing. A study of the marketing function in service firms (in Swedish with an English summary). Diss., Hanken School of Economics Finland, Marketing Technique Centre and Akademilitteratur.
- Grönroos, C. (1995). Relationship Marketing: The Strategy Continuum. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 23(4), 252–254. https://doi.org/10.1177/009207039502300404
- Grönroos, C. (1997). From marketing mix to relationship marketing towards a paradigm shift in marketing. *Management Decision*, 35(4), 322–339. https://doi.org/10.1108/00251749710169729
- Grönroos, C. (2006). Adopting a service logic for marketing. *Marketing Theory*, 6(3), 317–333. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593106066794
- Grönroos, C. (2007). Service management and marketing: Customer management in service

competition (3rd ed.). New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons.

- Grönroos, C. (2008). Service logic revisited: who creates value? And who co-creates? *European Business Review*, 20(4), 298–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/09555340810886585
- Grönroos, C. (2011a). A service perspective on business relationships: The value creation, interaction and marketing interface. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 40(2), 240–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2010.06.036
- Grönroos, C. (2011b). Value co-creation in service logic: A critical analysis. *Marketing Theory*, 11(3), 279–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593111408177
- Grönroos, C. (2011c). Value co-creation in service logic: A critical analysis. *Marketing Theory*, 11(3), 279–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593111408177
- Grönroos, C., & Gummerus, J. (2014). The service revolution and its marketing implications: service logic vs service-dominant logic. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 24(3), 206–229. https://doi.org/10.1108/MSQ-03-2014-0042
- Grönroos, C., & Helle, P. (2010). Adopting a service logic in manufacturing: conceptual foundation and metrics for mutual value creation. *Journal of Service Management*, 21(5), 564–590. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564231011079057
- Grönroos, C., & Ravald, A. (2011). Service as business logic: implications for value creation and marketing. *Journal of Service Management*, 22(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/09564231111106893
- Grönroos, C., & Voima, P. (2013). Critical service logic: Making sense of value creation and co-creation. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 41(2), 133–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-012-0308-3
- Guarte, J. M., & Barrios, E. B. (2006). Estimation Under Purposive Sampling. Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation, 35(2), 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610910600591610
- Guenzi, P., & Troilo, G. (2007). The joint contribution of marketing and sales to the creation of superior customer value, *60*, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.10.007
- Gummerus, J., von Koskull, C., & Kowalkowski, C. (2017). Guest editorial: relationship marketing past, present and future. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 31(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-12-2016-0424
- Gummesson, E., & Mele, C. (2010). Marketing as Value Co-creation Through Network Interaction and Resource Integration. *Journal of Business Market Management*, 4(4), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12087-010-0044-2
- Gustafsson, Å. (2006). Customers' logistics service requirements and logistics strategies in the Swedish sawmill industry. *Acta Wexionensia* 85, 83 (+ appendices).
- Håkansson, H., & Snehota, I. (1989). No Buisness is an Island The Network Concept of Buisness Strategy. Scandinavian Journal of Management, 5(3), 187–200. https://doi.org/ez127.periodicos.capes.gov.br/10.1016/j.scaman.2006.10.005
- Halinen, A., & Törnroos, J.-A. (2005). Using case methods in the study of contemporary business networks. Journal of Business Research, 58, 1285–1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2004.02.001
- Han, J., Kim, N., & Srivastava, R. (1998). Market orientation and organizational performance: is innovation a missing link? *Journal of Marketing*, 62(30), 30–45. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252285
- Han, X., & Hansen, E. (2016). Marketing sophistication in private sawmilling companies in the United States. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 45(2), 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2015-0242

- Han, X., & Hansen, E. (2017). Marketing organization and implementation in private U.S. sawmilling companies. *BioProducts Business*, 2(1), 1–13.
- Handfield, R. B., & Bechtel, C. (2002). The role of trust and relationship structure in improving supply chain responsiveness. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 31(4), 367–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(01)00169-9
- Hansen, E. (2010). The Role of Innovation in the Forest Products Industry. Journal of Forestry, 108(7), 348–353.
- Hansen, E., Dibrell, C., & Down, J. (2006). Market orientation, strategy, and performance in the primary forest industry. *Forest Science*, 52(3), 209–220.
- Hansen, E., & Juslin, H. (2005). Marketing of forest products in a changing world. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science*, 35(2–3), 190–204.
- Hansen, E., & Juslin, H. (2011). *Strategic Marketing in the Global Forest Industries* (2nd ed.). Eugene, OR: Shelton Turnball.
- Hansen, E., Korhonen, S., Rametsteiner, E., & Shook, S. (2006). Current state-of-knowledge: Innovation research in the global forest sector. *Journal of Forest Products Business Research*, 3(3), 1-27.
- Hansen, E., Nybakk, E., Bull, L., Crespell, P., Jélvez, A., & Knowles, C. (2011). A multinational investigation of softwood sawmilling innovativeness. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 26(3), 278–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2011.553198
- Hansen, E., Nybakk, E., & Panwar, R. (2015). Pure versus hybrid competitive strategies in the forest sector: Performance implications. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 54(1), 51– 57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2015.02.001
- Hansen, E., Panwar, R., & Volsky, R. (2013). Understanding and managing change in the global forest sector. (E. Hansen, R. Panwar, & R. Vlosky, Eds.) (2nd ed.). Eugene, OR: Shelton Turnball.
- Hansen, E., Rasmussen, C. C., & Nybakk, E. (2017). Recessionary period activities in forest sector firms: Impacts on innovativeness. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 28, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2017.06.004
- Harris, D. L., & Twomey, D. F. (2010). The enterprise perspective: a new mind-set for competitiveness and sustainability. *Competitiveness Review*, 20(3), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.1108/10595421011047442
- Heinonen, K., & Strandvik, T. (2015). Customer-dominant logic: foundations and implications. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 29(6/7), 472–484. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-02-2015-0096
- Heinonen, K., Strandvik, T., Mickelsson, K., Edvardsson, B., Sundström, E., & Andersson, P. (2010). A customer-dominant logic of service. *Journal of Service Management*, 21(4), 531–548. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564231011066088
- Henriette, F. E., Mondher, F., & Boughzala, I. (2015). The shape of digital transformation: A systematic literature review. In *in Ninth Mediterranean Conference on Information Systems (MCIS), Samos, Greece.*
- Hetemäki, L. (2010). Information and communication technology. Forests and society responding to global drivers of change: In:Mery, G., Katila, P., Galloway, G., Alfaro, R.I., Kanninen, M., Lobovikov, M., Varjo, J. (Eds.), IUFRO World Series, 25, pp. 159.
- Hogan, J., Hogan, R., & Busch, C. M. (1984). How to measure service orientation. Journal of Applied Psychology, 69(1), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.1.167
- Holsapple, C. W., & Singh, M. (2001). The knowledge chain model: activities for competitiveness. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 20(20), 77–98.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0957-4174(00)00050-6

- Homburg, C., & Pflesser, C. (2000). A multiple layer model of market oriented organizational culture: Measurement issues and performance outcomes. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 37(4), 449–462. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.37.4.449.18786
- Hoskisson, R. E., Hitt, M. A., Wan, W., & Yiu, D. (1999). Theory and research in strategic management: Swings of a pendulum. *Journal of Management*, 25(3), 417–456. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639902500307
- Hossain, M., Islam, K. M. Z., Sayeed, M. A., & Kauranen, I. (2016). A comprehensive review of open innovation literature. *Journal of Science and Technology Policy Management*, 7(1), 2–25. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSTPM-02-2015-0009
- Hurmekoski, E., & Hetemäki, L. (2013). Studying the future of the forest sector: Review and implications for long-term outlook studies. *Forest Policy and Economics*, *34*, 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2013.05.005
- Hurmekoski, E., Hetemäki, L., & Linden, M. (2015). Factors affecting sawnwood consumption in Europe. Forest Policy and Economics, 50, 236–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2014.07.008
- Husso, M., & Nybakk, E. (2010). Importance of Internal and External Factors when Adapting to Environmental Changes in SME Sawmills in Norway and Finland : The Manager ' s View Theoretical Background and Frame- work. *Journal of Forest Products Business Research*, 7(1), 1–14.
- Im, S., & Workman, J. P. (2004). Market Orientation, Creativity, and New Product Performance in High-Technology Firms. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(2), 114–132. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.2.114.27788
- Jean, R. J. B., Kim, D., & Sinkovics, R. R. (2012). Drivers and Performance Outcomes of Supplier Innovation Generation in Customer-Supplier Relationships: The Role of Power-Dependence. *Decision Sciences*, 43(6), 1003–1038. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2012.00380.x
- Johannessen, J.-A., Olaisen, J., & Olsen, B. (2001). Mismanagement of tacit knowledge: the importance of tacit knowledge, the danger of information technology, and what to do about it. *International Journal of Information Management*, 21, 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0268-4012(00)00047-5
- John, G., & Reve, T. (1982). The reliability and validity of key informant data from dyadic relationships in marketing channels. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *19*(4), 517–524. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151724
- Johnsen, T. E. (2009). Supplier involvement in new product development and innovation: Taking stock and looking to the future. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 15, 187–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2009.03.008
- Kallio, A. M. I. (2001). Interdependence of the sawlog, pulpwood and sawmill chip markets: An oligopsony model with an application to Finland. *Silva Fennica*, *35*(2), 229–243. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.598
- Katunzi, T. M. (2011). Obstacles to process integration along the supply chain: manufacturing firms perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(5), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v6n5p105
- Keränen, J., & Jalkala, A. (2013). Towards a framework of customer value assessment in B2B markets: An exploratory study. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42(8), 1307– 1317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.06.010
- Keränen, J., & Jalkala, A. (2014). Three strategies for customer value assessment in business markets. *Management Decision*, 52(1), 79–100. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-04-2013-

0230

- Khanagha, S., Volberda, H., & Oshri, I. (2017). Customer co-creation and exploration of emerging technologies : the mediating role of managerial attention and Initiatives. *Long Range Planning*, 50, 221–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2015.12.019
- Kirca, A. H., Jayachandran, S., & Bearden, W. O. (2005). Market orientation: a meta-analytic review and assessment of its antecedents and impact on performance. *Journal of Marketing*, 69(2), 24–41. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.69.2.24.60761
- Kivinen, V. P., (2004). A genetic algorithm approach to tree bucking optimization. Forest Science. 50(5):696-710.
- Klioutch, I., & Leker, J. (2011). Supplier Involvement in Customer New Product Development: New Insights From the Supplier'S Perspective. International Journal of Innovation Management, 15(01), 231–248. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919611003143
- Knowles, C., Hansen, E., & Shook, S. R. (2008). Assessing innovativeness in the North American softwood sawmilling industry using three methods. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38(2), 363–375. https://doi.org/10.1139/X07-140
- Kogut, B., & Zander, U. (1996). What Firms Do? Coordination, Identity, and Learning. Organization Science, 7(5), 502–518. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.7.5.502
- Korhonen, H. (2016). *Customer orientation in industrial service innovation*. Aalto University. Doctoral dissertation.
- Kowalkowski, C., Kindström, D., & Gebauer, H. (2013). ICT as a catalyst for service business orientation. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 28(6), 506–513. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-04-2013-0096
- Kowalkowski, C., Witell, L., & Gustafsson, A. (2013). Any way goes: Identifying value constellations for service infusion in SMEs. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.11.004
- Kreuter, F. (2008). Interviewer effects In: Lavrakas, P.J. (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Research Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963947
- Kvale, S. (2007). Validation and Generalization of Interview Knowledge. *Doing Interviews*, 121–129. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781849208963.n10
- Lager, T., Tano, K., & Anastasijevic, N. (2015). Open Innovation and Open Production: a Case of a Technology Supplier/User Collaboration in the Process Industries. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 19(02), 1550022. https://doi.org/10.1142/S136391961550022X
- Lähtinen, K., & Toppinen, A. (2008). Financial performance in Finnish large- and mediumsized sawmills: The effects of value-added creation and cost-efficiency seeking. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 14(4), 289–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2008.02.001
- Lähtinen, K., Toppinen, A., Leskinen, P., & Haara, A. (2009). Resource Usage Decisions and Business Success : A Case Study of Finnish Large- and Medium-sized Sawmills. *Journal of Forest Products Business Research*, 3(3), 1–18.
- Lam, A. (2000). Tacit knowledge, organizational learning and societal institutions: An integrated framework. *Organization Studies*, 21(3), 487–513. https://doi.org/10.1177/07399863870092005
- Langer, A. M. (2017). Information Technology and Organizational Learning: Managing Behavioral Change through Technology and Education, 3rd edn. CRC Press, New York.

- Laursen, K., & Salter, A. (2006). Open for innovation: The role of openness in explaining innovation performance among U.K. manufacturing firms. *Strategic Management Journal*, 27(2), 131–150. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.507
- Lawson, B., & Samson, D. (2001). Developing innovation capability in organisations : a dynamic capabilities approach. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 5(3), 377–400. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919601000427
- Legner, C., Eymann, T., Hess, T., Matt, C., Böhmann, T., Drews, P., Mädche, A., Urbach, N., Ahlemann, F. (2017). Digitalization: Opportunity and Challenge for the Business and Information Systems Engineering Community. *Business & Information Systems Engineering*, 59(4), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-017-0484-2
- Lejeune, M. A., & Yakova, N. (2005). On characterizing the 4 C 's in supply chain management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 23, 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2004.09.004
- Lenka, S., Parida, V., & Wincent, J. (2017). Digitalization capabilities as enablers of value co-creation in servitizing firms. *Psychology & Marketing*, *34*(1), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar
- Lerch, C., & Gotsch, M. (2015). Digitalized product-service systems in manufacturing firms: A case study analysis. *Research-Technology Management*, 58(5), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.5437/08956308X5805357
- Levitt, T. (1960). Marketing myopia. *Harward Business Review*, 38(4), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- Lindgreen, A., Hingley, M. K., Grant, D. B., & Morgan, R. E. (2012). Value in business and industrial marketing: Past, present, and future. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(1), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.11.025
- Lindic, J., & da Silva, C. M. (2011). Value proposition as a catalyst for a customer focused innovation. *Management Decision*, 49(10), 1694–1708. https://doi.org/10.1108/00251741111183834
- Linton, J. D. (2012). What's hot and what's not: A summary of topics and papers in technology innovation management that are getting attention. *Technovation*, 32, 653– 655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2012.10.002
- Lusch, R. F. & Vargo, S. L. (2014). Service-dominant logic: Premises, perspectives, possibilities. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Makkonen, M. (2018) Stakeholder perspectives on the business potential of digitalization in the wood products industry. BioProducts Business 3(6): 63-80.
- Makkonen, M., Aminoff, A., & Valkokari, K. (2017). Stimulating Supplier Innovation in a Complex and Regulated Business Environment — a Dyadic Case Study. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 22(3), 1850027. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919618500275
- Makkonen, M., & Sundqvist-Andberg, H. (2017). Customer value creation in B2B relationships : Sawn timber value chain perspective. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 29, 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2017.08.007
- Malone, D. (2002). Knowledge management: A model for organizational learning. International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 3, 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1467-0895(02)00039-8
- Martelo-Landroguez, S., & Cegarra-Navarro, J.-G. (2014). Linking knowledge corridors to customer value through knowledge processes. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 18(2), 342–365. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-07-2013-0284
- Matt, C., Hess, T., & Benlian, A. (2015). Digital transformation strategies. Business and

Information Systems Engineering, 57(5), 339–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-015-0401-5

- Matthies, B. D., D'Amato, D., Berghäll, S., Ekholm, T., Hoen, H. F., Holopainen, J., Korhonen, J. E., Lähtinen, K., Mattila, O., Toppinen, A., Valsta, L., Wang, L. & Yousefpour, R. (2016). An ecosystem service-dominant logic? - Integrating the ecosystem service approach and the service-dominant logic. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 124, 51–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.02.109
- Mattila, O. (2015). Towards service-dominant thinking in the Finnish forestry service market. Academic dissertation. University of Helsinki. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1544
- Mattila, O., Hämäläinen, K., Häyrinen, L., & Berghäll, S. (2016). Strategic business networks in the Finnish wood products industry: a case of two small and medium-sized enterprises. *Silva Fennica*, *50*(3), 1–8.
- Mattila, O., & Roos, A. (2014). Service logics of providers in the forestry services sector : Evidence from Finland and Sweden. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 43, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2014.03.003
- Maxwell, J. A. (1996). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Sage Publications, London.
- Maxwelll, J. A. (1992). Understanding and validity in qualitative research. *Harvard Educational Review*, 62(3), 279–300. https://doi.org/0017-8055
- Mayer-Schönberger, V., & Cukier, K. (2013). *Big Data. A Revolution That Will Transform How We Live, Work, And Think.* New York, NY: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Publishing Company.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). Model of Trust. *Management*, 20(3), 709–734. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1995.9508080335
- Mele, C., & Della Core, V. (2013). Resource-based view and Service-dominant logic: Similarities , differences and further research. *Journal of Business Market Management*, 6(4), 192–213.
- Mele, C., & Della Corte, V. (2013). Resource-based view and Service-dominant logic: Similarities, differences and further research. *Journal of Business Market Management*, 6(4), 192–213.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: an expanded sourcebook*. Sage Publications, Los Angeles, California.
- Mintzberg, H. (1994). The rise and fall of strategic planning. New York, NY: Prentice Hall.
- Montague, I., Arano, K., Wiedenbeck, J., & Shepherd, J.-G. (2016). Forest Products Industry in a Digital Age : A Look at E-Commerce and Social Media. *Forest Products Journal*, 66(1/2), 49–57. https://doi.org/10.13073/FPJ-D-14-00104
- Morgan, G. A., & Harmon, R. J. (1999). Sampling and external validity. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 38(10), 1313–1315. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199910000-00022
- Narver, J. C., & Slater, S. F. (1990). The effect of a market orientation on business profitability. *Journal of Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.2307/1251757
- Näyhä, A., Pelli, P., & Hetemäki, L. (2015). Services in the forest-based sector unexplored futures. *Foresight*, 17(4), 378–398. https://doi.org/10.1108/FS-08-2013-0034
- Neely, A. (2008). Exploring the Financial Consequences of the Servitization of Manufacturing Exploring the Financial Consequences of the, *1*(2), 1–50.
- Niemelä, J., & Smith, M. (1996). A cross-national investigation of softwood sawmill marketing strategies. *Forest Science*, 42(3), 290–299.
- Nilsson, M., Wästerlund, D. S., Wahlberg, O., & Eriksson, L. O. (2017). The use of forest

information in timber sales planning – a case study in a Swedish forest-owning company. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 32(4), 320–326. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2016.1245356

- Nitzsche, P., Wirtz, B. W., & Göttel, V. (2016). Innovation Success in the Context of Inbound Open Innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 20(02), 1650025. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919616500250
- Nonaka, I., & Takeuchi, H. (1995). *The knowledge creating company*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nordmark, U. (2005). Value recovery and production control in bucking, log sorting, and log breakdown. *Forest Products Journal*, 55(6).
- Nurminen, T., Korpunen, H., & Uusitalo, J. (2009). Applying the activity-based costing to cut-to-length timber harvesting and trucking. Silva Fennica, 43(5), 847–870. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.177
- Nybakk, E., Crespell, P., & Hansen, E. (2011). Climate for innovation and innovation strategy as drivers for success in the wood industry: Moderation effects of firm size, industry sector, and country of operation. *Silva Fennica*, 45(3), 415–430. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.110
- Nylen, D., & Holmstrom, J. (2015). Digital innovation strategy: A framework for diagnosing and improving digital product and service innovation. *Business Horizons*, 58(1), 57– 67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.09.001
- Oliva, R., & Kallenberg, R. (2003). Managing the transition from products to services. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 14(2), 160–172. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564230310474138
- Paasi, J., Lappalainen, I., Rantala, T., & Pikkarainen, M. (2014). Challenges for Product and Service Providers in Open Innovation With Customers in Business-To-Business Markets. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 18(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919614500121
- Paasi, J., Luoma, T., Valkokari, K., & Lee, N. (2010). Knowledge and Intellectual Property Management in Customer–Supplier Relationships. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 14(04), 629–654. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919610002805
- Panwar, R. & Hansen, E. (2009). A process for identifying social and environmental issues: a case of the US forest products manufacturing industry. Journal of Public Affairs, 9(4), 323–336. https://doi-org.libproxy.helsinki.fi/10.1002/pa.336
- Parida, V., Sjödin, D. R., Lenka, S., & Wincent, J. (2015). Developing global service innovation capabilities : How global manufacturers address the challenges of market heterogeneity. *Research-Technology Management*, 58, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.5437/08956308X5805360
- Parviainen, P., Kääriäinen, J., Tiihinen, M., & Teppola, S. (2017). Tackling the digitalization challenge : How to benefit from digitalization in practice. *International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management*, 5(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.12821/ijispm050104
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods* (3rd ed.). CA: Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Payne, A. F., Storbacka, K., & Frow, P. (2008). Managing the co-creation of value. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0070-0
- Pelli, P., Haapala, A., & Pykäläinen, J. (2017). Services in the forest-based bioeconomy analysis of European strategies. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 32(7), 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2017.1288826

- Peltoniemi, M. (2013). Mechanisms of capability evolution in the Finnish forest industry cluster. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 19(2), 190–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2013.02.001
- Penrose, E. (1995). The theory of the growth of the firm, 1959. Cambridge, MA, 466.
- Peteraf, M. A., & Bergen, M. E. (2003). Scanning dynamic competitive landscapes: A market-based and resource-based framework. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(10), 1027–1041. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.325
- Pfeffer, J., & Slancik, R. (1978). Social Control of Organizations. The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependence Perspective. London, UK; New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Porter, M. E. (1980). Competitive strategy: Techniques for analyzing industries and companies. New York. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250020110
- Porter, M. E. (1985). *Competitive advantage: creating and sustaining superior performance*. New York: The Free Press. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-11-4354
- Porter, M. E. (1994). The Role of Location in Competition. International Journal of the Economics of Business, 1(1), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/758540496
- Porter, M. E. (1996). What is Strategy? *Harvard Business Review*, 74(6), 61–78. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.0355
- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2014). How smart, connected products are transforming competition. *Harvard Business Reviewarward Business*, 92, 11–64. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Porter, M. E., & Ketels, C. H. M. (2003). UK Competitiveness : moving to the next stage. *DTI Economics Paper*, (3), URN 03/899.
- Powell, W. W., & Snellman, K. (2004). The knowledge economy. Annual Review of Sociology, 30, 199–220. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100037
- Prahalad, C. K., Hamel, G., & June, M. a Y. (1990). The Core Competence of the Corporation. *Harvard Business Review*, 68(3), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-30763-X_14
- Primo, M. A. ., & Amundson, S. D. (2002). An exploratory study of the effects of supplier relationships on new product development outcomes. *Journal of Operations Management*, 20(1), 33–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-6963(01)00080-8
- Pulles, N. J., Schiele, H., Veldman, J., & Hüttinger, L. (2015). The impact of customer attractiveness and supplier satisfaction on becoming a preferred customer. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 54, 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.06.004
- Pätäri, S., Tuppura, A., Toppinen, A., & Korhonen, J. (2015). Global sustainability megaforces in shaping the future of the European pulp and paper industry towards a bioeconomy. Forest Policy and Economics, 66, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2015.10.009
- Ragab, A. F., & Arisha, A. (2013). Knowledge management and measurement: a critical review. Journal of Knowledge Management (Vol. 17). https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-12-2012-0381
- Rasouli, M. R., Trienekens, J. J. M., Kusters, R. J., & Grefen, P. W. P. J. (2015). A Dynamic Capabilities Perspective on Service- Orientation in Demand-Supply Chains. Procedia CIRP, 30, 396–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.145
- Ravald, A., & Grönroos, C. (1996). The value concept and relationship marketing. *European Journal of Marketing*, 30(2), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090569610106626

- Reed, R., & DeFilippi, R. J. (1990). Causal Ambiguity, Barriers to Imitation, and Sustainable Competitive Advantage. Academy of Management Review, 15(1), 88–102. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1990.4308277
- Reed, R., Lemak, D. J., & Mero, N. P. (2000). Total Quality Management and Sustainable Competitive Advantage. *Journal of Quality Management*, 5, 5–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1084-8568(00)00010-9
- Remneland-Wikhamn, B., Ljungberg, J., Bergquist, M., & Kuschel, J. (2011). Open Innovation, Generativity and the Supplier As Peer: the Case of Iphone and Android. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 15(1), 205–230. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919611003131
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Elam, G. (2003). *The Foundations of Qualitative Research*. (J. Ritchie & J. Lewis, Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. London: Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452230108
- Rosell, D. T. (2014). Implementation of Open Innovation Strategies: a Buyer-Supplier Perspective. International Journal of Innovation Management, 18(6), 1. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919614400131
- Rumelt, R. P. (1991). How much does industry matter? *Strategic Management Journal*, *12*, 167–185. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250120302
- Rummukainen, H. (2017). Value added by optimal wood raw material allocation & processing Modelling, simulation and optimisation of wood material flows in business networks (Working paper).
- Saarijärvi, H., Grönroos, C., & Kuusela, H. (2014). Reverse use of customer data: implications for service-based business models. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 28(7), 529–537. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-05-2013-0111
- Saarijärvi, H., Puustinen, P., Yrjölä, M., & Mäenpää, K. (2017). Service-Dominant Logic and Service Logic - Contradictory and/or Complementary? International Journal of Services Sciences, 6(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1504/IJSSCI.2017.10008998
- Sambamurthy, V., Bharadwaj, A., & Grover, V. (2003). Shaping agility through digital options: reconceptualizing the role of information technology in contemporary firms. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(2), 237–263. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036530
- Saura, I. G., Contrí, G. B., Taulet, A. C., & Velázquez, B. M. (2005). Relationships among customer orientation, service orientation and job satisfaction in financial services. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 16(5), 497–525. https://doi.org/10.1108/09564230510625787
- Schiele, H., Calvi, R., & Gibbert, M. (2012). Customer attractiveness, supplier satisfaction and preferred customer status: Introduction, definitions and an overarching framework. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(8), 1178–1185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.10.002
- Schiele, H., Veldman, J., & Huttinger, L. (2011). Supplier Innovativeness and Supplier Pricing:: the Role of Preferred Customer Status. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 15(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919611003064
- Schiele, H., Veldman, J., & Hüttinger, L. (2011). Supplier Innovativeness and Supplier Pricing: the Role of Preferred Customer Status. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 15(01), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919611003064
- Schlesinger, L. A., & Heskett, J. L. (1991). The service-driven service company. *Harvard Business Review*, 69(5), 71–81.
- Seah, M., Hsieh, M. H., & Weng, P. D. (2010). A case analysis of Savecom: The role of

indigenous leadership in implementing a business intelligence system. *International Journal of Information Management*, 30(4), 368–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.04.002

- Slater, S. F., & Narver, J. C. (1998). Customer-led and market-oriented: Let's not confuse the two. *Strategic Management Journal*, 19(10), 1001–1006.
- Smals, R. G. M., & Smits, A. a J. (2012). Value for value-The dynamics of supplier value in collaborative new product development. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(1), 156–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.11.022
- Song, T., & Usenius, A. (2007). INNOSIM a simulation model of wood conversion chain. Conference proceedings, COST Action E44 Conference on Wood Processing Strategy, Helsinki, pp. 95-108.
- Spetic, W. C., Kozak, R. A., & Vidal, N. G. (2016). Critical factors of competitiveness for the British Columbia secondary wood products industry. *Bioproducts Business*, *1*(2), 13–31.
- Srivastava, R. K., Fahey, L., & Christensen, K. H. (2001). The resource-based view and marketing: The role of market-based assets in gaining competitive advantage. *Journal* of Management, 27, 777–802. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920630102700610
- Stendahl, M., Mc Cluskey, D., & Eliasson, L. (2013). Integrated production of semi-finished components in sawmills, part i: External interactions. *Wood Material Science and Engineering*, 8(4), 253–270. https://doi.org/10.1080/17480272.2013.834965
- Stendahl, M., & Roos, A. (2008). Antecedents and barriers to product innovation A comparison between innovating and non-innovating strategic business units in the wood industry. *Silva Fennica*, 42(4), 659–681. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.239
- Stevens, R. H., Millage, J., & Clark, S. (2010). Waves of Knowledge Management: The Flow between Explicit and Tacit Knowledge. *American Journal of Economics and Business Administration*, 2(1), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajebasp.2010.129.135
- Teece, D. J. (1998). Capturing value from knowledge assets: The new economy, markets for know-how, and intangible assets. *California Management Review*, 40(3), 55–80. https://doi.org/10.2307/41165943
- Teece, D. J. (2007). Explicating dynamic capabilities: The nature and microfoundations of (sustainable) enterprise performance. Strategic Management Journal, 28(13), 1319– 1350. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.640
- Teece, D. J. (2010). Business models, business strategy and innovation. Long Range Planning, 43(2-3), 172–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2009.07.003
- Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 18, 509–533. https://doi.org /10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199708)18:7<509::AID-SMJ882>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Terho, H., Haas, A., Eggert, A., & Ulaga, W. (2012). 'It's almost like taking the sales out of selling'-Towards a conceptualization of value-based selling in business markets. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41(1), 174–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.11.011
- Tippins, M. J., & Sohi, R. S. (2003). It competency and firm performance : is organizational learning a missing link? *Strategic Management Journal*, 24, 745–761. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.337
- Toivonen, R. (2011). Dimensionality of quality from a customer perspective in the wood industry. Academic dissertation. University of Helsinki.
- Toivonen, R., Hansen, E., Järvinen, E., & Enroth, R. R. (2005). The competitive position of the Nordic wood industry in Germany Intangible quality dimensions. *Silva Fennica*,

39(2), 277-287. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.389

- Toppinen, A., Lähtinen, K., Leskinen, L. A., & Österman, N. (2011). Network co-operation as a source of competitiveness in medium-sized Finnish sawmills. *Silva Fennica*, 45(4), 743–759. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.102
- Toppinen, A., Toivonen, R., Valkeapää, A., & Rämö, A.-K. (2013). Consumer perceptions of environmental and social sustainability of wood products in the Finnish market. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 28(8), 775–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2013.824021
- Toppinen, A., Wan, M., & Lähtinen, K. (2013). Strategic orientations in the global forest sector. (E. Hansen, R. Panwar, & R. Vlosky, Eds.) (2nd ed.). Eugene, OR: Shelton Turnball. https://doi.org/10.1201/b16186-22
- Trott, P., & Hartmann, D. (2009). Why open innovation is old wine in new bottles. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 13(4), 715–736. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919609002509
- Tseng, S.-M. (2016). The effect of knowledge management capability and customer knowledge gaps on corporate performance. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29(1), 51–71. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-03-2015-0021
- Ulaga, W. (2001). Customer value in business markets. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 30, 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(01)00151-1
- Ulaga, W., & Eggert, A. (2006). Value-Based Differentiation in Business Relationships: Gaining and Sustaining Key Supplier Status. *Journal of Marketing*, 70(1), 119–136. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.2006.70.1.119
- Uusitalo, J. (2005). A framework for CTL method-based wood procurement logistics. *International Journal of Forest Engineering*, 16(2), 37–46. https://doi/pdf/10.1080/14942119.2005.10702512
- Uyarra, E., Edler, J., Garcia-Estevez, J., Georghiou, L., & Yeow, J. (2014). Barriers to innovation through public procurement: A supplier perspective. *Technovation*, *34*(10), 631–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2014.04.003
- van Echtelt, F. E. A., Wynstra, F., van Weele, A. J., & Duysters. (2008). Managing Supplier Involvement in New Product Development: A Multiple-Case Study. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 25, 180–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5885.2008.00293.x
- Vandenbosch, M., & Dawar, N. (2002). Beyond Better Products: Capturing Value in Customer Interactions. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 43(4), 35–42.
- Vandenbosch, M., & Dawar, N. (2002). Beyond better products: Capturing value in customer interactions. MIT Center for Digital Business and Capgemini Consulting, 43(4), 35– 42.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004a). Evolving to a new dominant logic for marketing. Journal of Marketing, 68(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.1.1.24036
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004b). The Four Service Marketing Myths: Remnants of a Goods-Based, Manufacturing Model. *Journal of Service Research*, 6(4), 324–335. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670503262946
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008a). From goods to service(s): Divergences and convergences of logics. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 37(3), 254–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2007.07.004
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008b). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0069-6

- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2011). Author 's personal copy It 's all B2B ... and beyond : Toward a systems perspective of the market Author 's personal copy. Industrial Marketing Management, 40, 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.indmarman.2010.06.026
- Vargo, S. L., Maglio, P. P., & Akaka, M. A. (2008). On value and value co-creation: A service systems and service logic perspective. *European Management Journal*, 26(3), 145– 152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2008.04.003
- Verdú-Jover, A. J., Alós-Simó, L., & Gómez-Gras, J. M. (2014). Strategic flexibility in ebusiness adapters and e-business start-ups, Hankbook of Strategic e-Business Management,. (F. J. Martínez-López, Ed.). Heidelberg: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-6301(91)90262-M
- Vidal, N. G., & Kozak, R. A. (2008). Corporate Responsibility Practices in the Forestry Sector: Definitions and the role of context. Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 31, 59– 75. https://doi.org/10.9774/GLEAF.4700.2008.au.00009
- Wagner, S., & Bode, C. (2014). Supplier relationship-specific investments and the role of safeguards for supplier innovation sharing. *Journal of Operations Management*, 32(3), 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2013.11.001
- Walter, A., Ritter, T., & Gemünden, H. G. (2001). Value Creation in Buyer-Seller Relationships: Theoretical Considerations and Empirical Results from a Supplier's Perspective. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 30(4), 365–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(01)00156-0
- Wan, M. (2014). In search of sustainable competitive advantage in the wood products industry: Evidence from China and Finland. *Dissertation Forestales* 172. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.172
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the fir. *Management Journal*, 5(2), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250050207
- Wilkinson, A., Dainty, A., & Neely, A. (2009). Changing times and changing timescales: the servitization of manufacturing. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 29(5), 7.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/ijopm.2009020429eaa.001

- Wilson, E. J. (1996). Theory transitions in organizational buying behavior research. Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 11(6), 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858629610151271
- Wind, Y. J. (2006). Blurring the lines: is there a need to rethink industrial marketing? Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 21(7), 474–481. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858620610708975
- Windahl, C., & Lakemond, N. (2006). Developing integrated solutions: The importance of relationships within the network. Industrial Marketing Management, 35, 806–818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2006.05.010
- Woodall, T. (2003). Conceptualising 'Value for the Customer': an attributional, structural and dispositional analysis.' *Academy of Marketing Science Review*, *12*, 1–42.
- Woodruff, R. B. (1997). Customer value: The next Source for competitive advantage. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 25(2), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02894350
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case Study Research Design and Methods (5th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks; CA: Sage Publications.
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Consumer perceptions of price, quality and value: ameans-end model and synthesis of evidence. *Journal of Marketing*, 52(July), 2–22.

https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298805200302

Zimmermann, R., Ferreira, L. M., & Carrizo Moreira, A. (2016). The influence of supply chain on the innovation process: a systematic literature review. *Supply Chain Management*, *21*(3), 289–304. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-07-2015-0266